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The use of the word ‘Aboriginal’ throughout this document refers to  
Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander people of Australia  
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Section 1  

Overview of Great Southern Institute of Technology 

Managing Director’s Report 

At Great Southern Institute of Technology, 2013 was another highly productive and 
successful year. 

Solid all-round performance from teaching and administration staff, and strong 
support from the institute’s Governing Council and industry stakeholders, 
underpinned a year which resulted in high student satisfaction rates and 
achievement of targets in all areas. 

I am particularly pleased with the way institute staff managed three events which 
significantly influenced business activities within this busy year. 

These were: 

 The imposition of budgetary constraints by the State Treasury in May. These 
cuts impacted on all sections for the remainder of the year and continue to do 
so in 2014. 

 The institute’s five-yearly reregistration audit by the Training Accreditation 
Council in September. Thorough preparations for this event and a post-audit 
review of recommendations have positioned the institute to continue to 
perform strongly and achieve compliance into the future. 

 The 2014 introduction of Future Skills WA, announced in August. The institute 
was well prepared in anticipation of this announcement, and strategies were 
created to address the implications of a competitive training market. These 
strategies were strengthened with the signing of a Memorandum of 
Understanding between all Regional STP Managing Directors in December, 
as part of a commitment to collaborate and share commercial knowledge and 
resources. 

I have every confidence that this same staff commitment and competence will allow 
the institute to strengthen its status as the region’s largest training provider in the 
new competitive environment and continue to develop the vocational skills of people 
in communities within the Great Southern and beyond. 

Testament to the quality training delivered on our campuses was the excellent rating 
the institute achieved for student satisfaction in a survey conducted by the Patterson 
Research Group. 

Of students surveyed in 2013, a total of 92.2 per cent were satisfied or very satisfied 
with their experiences at the institute. This is 6.3 per cent higher than the Western 
Australian State average – a pleasing result which reflects well on the standard of 
teaching, administration and facilities at this institute. 

During the year, the institute consolidated its valued partnerships with industry and 
business throughout the Great Southern region and forged new relationships with 
local government and industry bodies for staff training. This institute is the City of 
Albany’s preferred training provider, and through its strong links with the Water 
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Corporation, the institute’s Skills Development Centre has delivered Certificate IV in 
Frontline Management to that organisation’s staff.  

Further afield, the Skills Development Centre’s relationships with mining, 
construction, oil and gas exploration, agriculture and civil construction companies 
across the State were strengthened with the delivery of high-risk licensed programs, 
industrial training and workplace health and safety courses. 

The Health Sciences and Community Services portfolio also delivered dental nursing 
traineeships on Christmas Island. 

The advantage of operating from regional sites has been well demonstrated with the 
high take-up of course offerings in the Katanning, Denmark and Mount Barker 
campuses in both semesters.  

In addition, staff of the Katanning campus worked with the local Shire to develop a 
language and literacy project for people in the widely multicultural town, and the 
institute was a member of the Community Development Working Group, and 
provided advice on training opportunities. 

The institute’s Aboriginal Programs section’s strong engagement with the Noongar 
community continued to improve training opportunities and encourage participation 
by Aboriginal people. 

To boost the institute’s strong advocacy of training for Aboriginal people, a cultural 
awareness and language program for individuals and organisations was developed 
in consultation with local Noongar people. 

Over the past four years, the institute has seen a steady increase in the confirmed 
enrolments for Aboriginal students taking Certificate III and above, and also in the 
module load completion rate (MLCR) for Aboriginal students across the institute. In 
2013, the MLCR stood at 85.6 per cent. 

Partnerships with regional high schools were boosted with the continuation of the 
VET in Schools (VETiS) program and the opening of a health trade training centre at 
North Albany Senior High School. 

This centre represents a collaborative approach between the institute and secondary 
schools, and is used extensively for VETiS delivery of health support services and 
community services courses to students in Years 10 and 11. This allows young 
people to prepare for a rewarding career while still at school, and move to a 
vocational qualification or a BSc in Nursing. 

Tender programs for people with disability brought opportunities for further training or 
employment, and the institute developed a DVD titled Moving On From School. This 
depicts eight young people sharing their training, employment, voluntary and 
community experiences after leaving school and giving advice and inspiration to 
others. 

Technology played a vital role in the institute’s ability to be agile and responsive to 
the training market, as evidenced in the development of two e-books. Published on 
the Apple store, these course textbooks – Wool Handling and Personal Care Support 
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for Direct Care Workers – were written, designed, developed and published on-
campus. 

iPads were used for Certificate in General Education for Adults courses as part of 
Building Online Learning Skills, a project sponsored by the National VET E-Learning 
Skills Strategy, and also for the Learning for The Future program for people with 
disability. 

Several initiatives boosted the institute’s sustainability stance and improved the 
campus environment for staff and students alike. Water-wise landscaping enhanced 
the main entrance to the Albany campus and six additional photovoltaic panels were 
installed at the Environment and Primary Industries complex. These projects were 
funded by the Seeds of Sustainability committee from savings generated by previous 
environmentally sustainable initiatives. 

In December, the institute’s new website was launched following an extensive in-
house research and development program. Combining a contemporary user-focused 
platform with high-level functionality, the site is an excellent business promotional 
and information tool.    

Towards the end of the year, business operations were impacted at executive level 
by the retirement of the institute’s Director of Training Services, who took a package 
under the State Government’s voluntary severance scheme. 

This necessitated a restructure of the institute’s directorate, which took effect in 
January. At the same time, the six portfolios were also restructured to accommodate 
an altered business model, and one portfolio, formerly Communication and The Arts, 
was renamed Teaching and Learning. 

Two directors and six portfolio managers now work with me as part of the executive 
team, and I am confident we are well positioned to move to the new competitive 
environment while upholding the high standards of education people in the region’s 
communities have come to expect from this institute as it approaches 40 years of 
operation. 

I sincerely thank the institute’s staff in all areas for their dedication and 
professionalism which give students the confidence to consistently choose this 
institute as their most trusted training provider. 

Finally, my heartfelt thanks go to Governing Council Chair Scott Leary, Deputy Chair 
Audrey Jackson AM and the members of the Governing Council who give selflessly 
of their time and considerable expertise to provide advice and strategic direction to 
this institute. 

It is with great pleasure that I present this document. 

 

 
Lidia Rozlapa 
CEO/Managing Director 
Great Southern Institute of Technology 
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Governing Council Chair’s Report 

 
At the end of my first year as chair of the Governing Council, I am pleased to present 
my report on the activities of 2013 at Great Southern Institute of Technology. 

The year was characterised by sound management of finances and resources, and 
strong relationships with stakeholders and industry partners within the Great 
Southern region and beyond. 

The institute’s management of finances and reserves was particularly impressive in 
the face of budget constraints and the imposition of dividends. 

High professional and academic standards were upheld during the year, in which all 
Delivery Performance Agreement and training targets were met. 

In April, the State Government launched the Great Southern Workforce Development 
Plan, which contained 10 strategic directions specifically related to Great Southern 
Institute. The institute has worked with the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development, industry people and the community to deliver the outcomes outlined in 
the plan. Part of the institute’s own Strategic Plan 2013-15 aligns with the regional 
workforce plan. 

Academic achievements of high-performing students were rewarded at the annual 
Award Night in March, when Aged Care student Tamika Turich received the top 
honour of Vocational Student of the Year, an award sponsored by the Rotary Club of 
Albany East. 

The following week, the institute’s Managing Director Lidia Rozlapa became the 
recipient of a prestigious award of her own, when she was named Business Person 
of the Year in the Albany Chamber of Commerce and Industry Business Excellence 
Awards. This award, sponsored by Telstra Country Wide, was a well-deserved 
accolade for Lidia, and a fitting one as she approached her 20th anniversary of 
joining the institute. 

The annual career expo held at the Albany campus in June drew more than 500 high 
school students from Years 10 to 12, and representation at the Skills West Expo in 
Perth gave Great Southern Institute a platform for demonstrating its offerings and 
facilities beyond the region.  

The institute’s commitment to providing contemporary training facilities was boosted 
with a capital works program to accommodate delivery in industrial training and 
health sciences. 

A shed was constructed at the Albany campus for the Skills Development Centre to 
carry out high-risk training. This is equipped with a rigging tower, pallet racking, a 
hoist and a cantilever loading platform. 

By the end of the year, site works had been completed on a new Health Sciences 
and Community Services building at the Albany campus. When completed in late 
2014, this state-of-the-art facility will provide first-class training facilities to enable 
people in the region to gain health qualifications and answer the anticipated high 
demand for workers in this industry. 
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This institute enjoys sound relationships with numerous industry partners, who 
advise on current practice and standards and provide invaluable support for students 
in their vocational training. 

I am indebted to the businesses and organisations supporting the institute through 
sponsorships and scholarships. These are: 

ABA Security – Caramia Electrical 
Activ Business Services 
Active Plumbing 
Advantage Partners 
Albany Advertiser 
Albany Bitumen Spraying 
Albany Business Telephones 
Albany Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry 
Albany City Motors 
Albany Indoor Plant Hire 
Albany Office Products Depot 
Albany Plaza Pharmacy 
Albany Toyota 
BankWest 
Barefoot Clothing Manufacturers 
Barry J Geldard & Associates 
Best Office systems 
Bunnings Warehouse 
Castlehow electrical Services 
Comfort Inn Albany 
Countryman 
Eyerite Signs 
Great Southern Development 
Commission 

Great Southern Employment 
Development Committee 
Great Southern Personnel 
GT Bearings and Engineering Supplies 
Hall & Prior – Clarence Estate 
Institute of Public Accountants 
James & Ellis Accountants 
Motel Le Grande 
National Australia Bank 
Orana Cinemas 
RA and CM Whyte Plumbing 
Ragamuffins Child Care Centre 
Rainbow Child Care Centre 
Regional Development Australia Great 
Southern WA 
Shire of Denmark 
Southcoast Security Service 
Storm Office National  
The Surgery 
WA Country Health Service – Great 
Southern Region 
Wanslea Family Services 
Water Corporation 
Whale World 

 

As always, a strong focus on staff professional development was evident throughout 
the year, which started with an inspiring whole-of-institute one-day program of 
learning and activities in early February. 

I am indebted to the members of the Governing Council for their commitment to 
upholding the high standards at the institute and their willingness to share their 
extensive expertise for the benefit of the institute and the community. 

I extend a warm welcome to two new Governing Council members, Veronica Fleay 
and Suresh Balakrishnan. 

Veronica brings a wealth of experience in high-level community, State Government 
and local government service.  Suresh, a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court 
of Western Australia since 2005, brings wide legal expertise to the boardroom.  

I also send my best wishes and thanks to two members who retired in 2013 – 
Suzanne Seeley and Bruce Rudeforth. 
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A major influence on board decisions during the year has been the preparation for 
the introduction of Future Skills WA in 2014. 

The wide expertise of the board will be invaluable in the year ahead. I anticipate a 
challenging year with greater competition from private providers. However, with the 
extensive business, government and legal expertise of board members, and the 
excellent reputation the institute enjoys, I am confident it will continue its solid 
performance from 2013 and uphold its commitment to providing excellence in 
training to people in the regional communities it serves. 

I am particularly indebted to Managing Director Lidia Rozlapa for another year of 
sound and inspired leadership. Lidia’s drive and determination to get the best from – 
and for – her staff and students consistently positions the institute to compete and 
perform strongly. 

 

Scott Leary 
Chair, Great Southern Institute of Technology Governing Council 
11 February 2014 
 
 

 

Regional Managing Directors signed an MOU to formalise their commitment to 
collaboration and mutual support. 
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Governing Council 

Great Southern Institute of Technology’s Governing council consists of a 
Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson, the Managing Director and 10 other members 
appointed by the Minister for Training and Workforce Development. Members are 
appointed for their expertise in education and training, industry or community affairs, 
and for their ability to contribute to the strategic direction of the institute. 

While the Managing Director has responsibility for the day-to-day operations, the 
Governing Council oversees the strategic and overall direction of the institute 
through the execution of its statutory functions within the Vocational Education and 
Training Act 1996, the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Financial Management Regulations 2007. 

 

Governing Council members during 2013 

 
Scott Leary 
 

 
Chair 

 

Scott is a director of Albany City Motors, a well-established 
local motor dealer for Holden, Nissan and Isuzu. With 12 
years in the finance industry with Westpac, 15 years’ 
experience in the motor trade and now as financial controller, 
Scott offers an extensive working knowledge of management 
and processes. Scott has succeeded Len Smith as Chair of 
the Governing Council from 1 January, 2013. 

  

 
Audrey Jackson 
AM 
 

 
Deputy Chair 

 

With a long history in the education sectors in the UK and 
Australia, Audrey Jackson has brought a wealth of experience 
to the Governing Council. Among the numerous educational 
boards and committees on which Audrey has served are 
those advocating rural and remote education and 
independent schools. Audrey, a Fellow of the Australian 
College of Educators and member of the State Training Board 
of Western Australia, is currently an education consultant with 
the Department of Education Services.  In 2012, Audrey was 
appointed Chair of the Teacher Registration Board of WA. 
She has succeeded Scott Leary as Deputy Chair of the 
Governing Council. Audrey was named a Member of the 
Order of Australia in the 2012 Queen’s Birthday Honours List 
for her work in education. 
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Lidia Rozlapa 
 

CEO/Managing Director 

 

Lidia is Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of 
Great Southern Institute of Technology and holds a Bachelor 
of Education and several related teaching qualifications. She 
is a member of the State Training Providers’ Group and 
participates in the Managing Directors’ Network and Regional 
Managing Directors’ Network. Lidia has seen the institute 
grow from 250,000 Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) to 1.142 
million SCH and has expanded the training reach throughout 
the 39,000 sq km of the Great Southern. 

  
 

Simon Lyas 
 

 

Member 

 

Simon is the Executive Officer of Regional Development 
Australia Great Southern (RDA). In this position, he works 
with a range of community stakeholders to identify, support 
and promote economic development opportunities within the 
region. A former primary and high school teacher, Simon has 
a particular interest in education and training and uses the 
RDA networks to assist with workforce planning and skills 
development across a range of industry sectors. He also 
brings extensive experience in government and public sector 
management to the Governing Council. 

  
 

Gillian Evans 
 

 

Member 

 

Gillian is a solicitor with wide experience of the Australian 
legal system gained while working for law firms and 
government departments in Perth and Albany. She has also 
served on committees and boards of several community 
organisations. Gillian has established a connection with the 
institute as a lecturer in law for welfare advocates and tourism 
law, and also as a project officer. Gillian has a keen interest in 
vocational education and training, and promotes lifelong 
learning as well as apprenticeships and flexible delivery of 
courses. 

  
 

Mark Dowling 
 

 

Member 

 

A member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and a qualified and experienced financial planner, Mark 
Dowling joined the Governing Council in 2012. 
Mark is a former student of Great Southern Institute of 
Technology who approaches his role on the Governing 
Council from a student perspective as well as at a strategic 
level. Mark’s extensive financial planning experience helps 
the institute to maximise its commercial opportunities. 
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David Marsh 
 

Member 

 

With nearly three decades of experience in the plumbing 
industry, David has worked as divisional manager with Active 
Plumbing, one of the region’s biggest plumbing firms, for the 
past 14 years. David has seen generations of plumbers 
progress from apprentices through to tradespeople, 
estimators and ultimately, managers. This was a pathway he 
took himself and he now runs this successful plumbing 
operation, which has a vast and complex client base. He has 
trained many apprentices, and has a passion and drive for 
developing the industry, particularly by nurturing young 
people. 

  
 

Suzanne Yewers 
 

 

Member 

 

Suzanne has lived in Narrikup and assisted with the 
management of her family’s farm since early 1998. She is 
employed as Administration and Training Manager for 
Fletcher International WA, Australia’s largest sheep and lamb 
processor which exports its products to more than 90 
countries worldwide. Suzanne is also a mature-aged 
university student and works closely with several community 
organisations.  She is chairperson for Albany Community 
Radio and president of the Narrikup Australian Red Cross 
Emergency Response Services Unit. To provide exercise 
during her busy lifestyle, Suzanne is a paddler with the 
Denmark Dragon Boat Club. 

  
 

Veronica Fleay 
 

 

Member 

 

Veronica (Ronnie) Fleay has an extensive record of high-level 
community, State Government and local government service, 
as well as several years’ experience as a small business 
operator. Kojonup-born Ronnie lived in Exmouth for 12 years 
before returning to the Great Southern in 2011. She has 
served as Chair of the Gascoyne Development Commission 
and sat on the Gascoyne Regional Council, the Western 
Australian Planning Commission, the Ningaloo Coast 
Planning Committee and the Western Australian Local 
Government Association. Former President of the Shire of 
Exmouth, Ronnie is currently Kojonup Shire President. She 
has a passion for regional development and a drive to 
improve education and training opportunities for people in 
regional areas, particularly disadvantaged youth and 
Aboriginal people. Ronnie has a broad perspective of the 
issues facing those in remote and rural communities. 
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Suresh 
Balakrishnan 
 

 

Member 

 

A Barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Western 
Australia since 2005, Suresh Balakrishnan has lived in Albany 
for 12 years, and is now employed by Latro Lawyers. Suresh 
had practiced law in India for seven years before moving to 
Australia in 1999, and graduating from Murdoch University 
with a Master of Laws two years later. In addition to his 
extensive legal expertise, Suresh has a keen interest in 
education and training and a desire to contribute, through 
judicious decision-making, to a better educational 
environment. 

 
 

Anne Stafford 
 

 

Member 

 

Anne held a senior executive position at Central Institute of 
Technology (formerly Central TAFE) in Perth for eight years 
before marrying an Albany man in 2002, and taking early 
retirement to live in Albany. She has chaired the board at 
Albany Worklink, served on the board at Parklands School, 
and been a volunteer tutor to an Afghani immigrant and to 
students at Lockyer Primary School. Her qualifications are in 
anthropology and teaching. Anne joined the Governing 
Council in 2009. 

 

Retired in 2013 
Suzanne Seeley 
Bruce Rudeforth 
 
 

  

Final-year 
apprentice Dean 
Pocock completed 
Certificate III in 
Engineering 
(Fabrication Trade 
[Heavy]) in 2013. 
Dean, from 
Jerramungup, 
completed his 
training on campus 
as a block release. 
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Operational Structure to December 2013 

 

 

 

In 2013, the institute reported to: 

The Hon. Murray Cowper MLA, Minister for Training and Workforce Development; 

Corrective Services.  

The Hon. Terry Redman MLA, Minister for Training and Workforce Development; 

Forestry; Water. 

The Hon. Dr Kim Hames, Deputy Premier, Minister for Health; Training and 

Workforce Development. 
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Legislation 

Enabling Legislation 

 Vocational Education and Training Act 1996  

 Vocational Education and Training (Colleges) Regulations 1996 

 Vocational Education and Training (General) Regulations 2009 
 

Other Legislation  

Other legislation affecting the functions and operations of Great Southern Institute of 

Technology includes, but is not limited to:   

State Legislation 

 Auditor General Act 2006 

 Building and Construction Industry Training Levy Act 1990 

 Building and Construction Industry Training Fund and Levy Collection Act 
1990  

 Children and Community Services Act 2004 

 Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 

 Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913 

 Disability Services Act 1993 

 Education Service Providers (Full Fee Overseas Students) Registration Act 
1991 

 Electoral Act 1907 

 Electronic Transactions Act 2011 

 Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

 Evidence Act 1906 

 Financial Management Act 2006 

 Freedom of Information Act 1992 

 Industrial Relations Act 1979 

 Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 

 Limitation Act 2005 

 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 

 Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984 

 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 

 Public Sector Management Act 1994 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 

 School Education Act 1999  

 State Records Act 2000 

 State Supply Commission Act 1991 

 Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 

 Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004 
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Commonwealth Legislation 

 Competition and Consumer Act 2010 

 Copyright Act 1968 

 Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 2000 

 Corporations Act 2001 

 Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000 

 Electronic Transactions Act 1999 

 Evidence Act 1995 

 Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 

 Mutual Recognition Act 1992 

 National Vocational Education and Training Regulator Act 2011 

 Privacy Act 1988 

 Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005 

 Spam Act 2003 

 Trade Marks Act 1995. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Horticulture student Cohn Weedon (left) learns the finer points of rose growing from 

lecturers Leah Goodrem and Jim Vonk. 
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Performance Management Framework  

The performance management framework ensures that Government goals are 
supported at agency level by specific desired outcomes and that the institute can 
align and measure performance against these goals.  

Risk management is integral to the ongoing business planning process.  

Skilling WA is the whole-of-government response to workforce development issues 
in Western Australia. Embedded within Skilling WA is the government’s 10-year plan 
for the training sector, Training WA. 

The institute’s Strategic Plan 2013-2015 aligns to the State Government’s Training 
WA goals. 

Institute outcomes reflect the priorities of Training WA and are assessed by key 
performance indicators in both the Managing Director’s Performance Agreement, 
and the annual Delivery and Performance Agreement negotiated with the VET (WA) 
Ministerial Corporation.  

The following illustrates the relationship between the institute outcomes and the 
goals of Training WA.   
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Section 2  

Agency Performance 

Report on Operations 

Established in 1974 as the Albany Technical School, Great Southern Institute of 
Technology is the region’s largest training provider. 

The institute operates campuses in Albany, Mount Barker, Katanning and Denmark, 
from where it delivers a broad scope of qualifications as well as professional and 
skills development courses to answer the demands of individuals and businesses in 
Great Southern communities. 

The institute delivers qualifications from Certificate I to Advanced Diploma, within the 
Australian Qualification Framework (AQF), under training packages accredited with 
the Training Accreditation Council (TAC). 

The range of delivery options includes on-campus, online, in the workplace, at 
community resource centres and in high schools. The student population stood at 
6372 in 2013. 

In 2013, the institute delivered 1,134,327 student curriculum hours (SCH). A further 
187,882 was generated through non-profile delivery, from competitive tenders and 
fee-for-service products through the Skills Development Centre. 

Six delivery portfolios in 2013 were: 

 Business and Creative 
Industries 

 Health Sciences and 
Community Services 

 Trades and Allied Industries 

 The Environment and Primary 
Industries 

 Communication and The Arts 

 Skills Development Centre 

 

As part of a restructure of the delivery portfolios at the end of 2013, the 
Communication and The Arts portfolio was renamed Teaching and Learning. While 
foundation courses remain with this portfolio, others were transferred to Business 
and Creative Industries. 

Five staff awards were presented in four categories in 2013 – two for non-teaching 
staff and three for teaching staff. 

The winners were: 

 Innovation in Teaching – Robyn Wills 

 Leadership in Teaching – Anne Green 

 Workforce Development in Teaching – Anne Parker 

 Excellence in Non-Teaching – Susan Stokes and Beverley Baxter 
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Great Southern Institute of Technology also offers specialised services in: 

 Workforce development 

 Workforce training and 
assessment 

 Apprenticeships and 
traineeships 

 Risk management 

 Corporate training 

 Industry consultancy 

 Delivery of Bachelor of Science 
(Nursing ) through Curtin 
University 

 

Student Profile 2013 

Total course enrolments: 6372 

40 per cent female students 

60 per cent male students 

5.9 per cent of students were of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander origin 

6.7 per cent of students reported a disability 

Median Age: 35.9 

 

Age Group 

Percentage of 

students 

Less Than 25 30.9 

25 to 45 40.0 

46+ 29.1 

 

Delivery Level  

Percentage of 

students 

Diploma and above 3.0 

Certificate IV 10.6 

Certificate III 43.1 

Certificate II 17.5 

Certificate I  25.8 

 

Figures are from all fund sources. 
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Directorate Reports 

Corporate Services Directorate 

 
Role and Function 

The Corporate Services Directorate provides institute-wide support in the areas of 
finance, human resources, facilities and services, capital works, information 
technology, record management and business systems. 
 
Major Achievements 

All outcomes have been achieved for the directorate, the following representing the 
major achievements throughout the year. 

Finance 
The institute finished the year with a $21,499 surplus, a pleasing result achieved 
through realising profile targets and sound financial management across the 
organisation, all within the Government efficiency measures resulting in a reduction 
of $586,000 in funding. 

Facilities, Capital and Minor Works 
Significant capital and remedial works commenced throughout the year included a 
$5.76 million Health Sciences facility located at the Albany campus, completion of a 
$453,593 Industrial Training facility located at the Albany campus, a $129,000 
upgrade to the emergency warning indicator system (fire alarm) upgrade, removal of 
two aged demountable classrooms, new extraction systems in trades, and upgraded 
signage and landscaping to improve the institute’s presentation. 

The institute secured $1.238 million in funding from the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development for major remedial works with projects completed to date 
totaling $192,147. Work includes upgrades to the power supply, sewer system, gas 
supply, roof and gutter replacement, air conditioning replacement, security system 
upgrade, covered walkways and asbestos replacement.  

A new 10-year master plan was completed, funded by the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development, as required for future strategic infrastructure planning 
across the sector. 

Information and Communication Technology 
A significant number of ICT projects were completed, assisted with funding through 
Royalties for Regions, which included upgrade of servers, storage and back-up 
expansion, remote access functionality for staff and the upgrade of 126 work 
stations.  

With students and staff embracing the use of iPads for delivery, a third class set of 
iPads was deployed for student learning in addition to 20 classrooms fitted with 
Apple TV to enable wireless iPad capability to classroom projectors. 

A new institute website was developed. This is a significant improvement with 
impressive feedback from current and prospective students on the look and ease of 
functionality. 
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Human Resources 
The institute started the year with a successful staff professional and career 
development (PACD) day at Camp Quaranup. This was further supported with an 
effective PACD calendar executed and well attended by staff across all campuses. 

The application to the State Government’s Voluntary Severance Scheme resulted in 
four staff having applications accepted. This assists the institute to achieve future 
salary cap restrictions. 

All policies and procedures were updated in addition to the submission of the 
workforce and diversity plan to the Public Sector Commission. 

Business Systems 
The team played a critical role in the development and testing of the institute’s 
business systems ready for the introduction of Future Skills WA and VET FEE-HELP 
for the first time in Western Australia. 

A number of team members were heavily involved in the AQTF reregistration in 
addition to normal duties while working with reduced staffing levels.    

Record management 
An assessment of the institute’s recordkeeping system TRIM was completed by 
external consultants Information Enterprises Australia.  Recommendations for 
enhancement to the system were implemented with TRIM now being deployed to 
key business units across the institute. 

Electronic distribution of mail was successfully trialled and is now being rolled out 
across the institute to provide improved record management and increase 
distribution efficiency. 

 
The Year Ahead 

An exciting and challenging year lies ahead, with a significant number of projects 
and upgrades across facilities and ITC while staff work within the continued fiscal 
efficiencies imposed on the institute and the unknown impact of the introduction of 
Skills WA on student numbers and systems changes. 
 

 

CGEA students Sam Pollard 

(left) and Bayden Redshaw 

(right) work on the iPad with 

in-class assistant Hayley 

Fletcher. 
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Student Services Directorate 

 
Role and Function 

The Student Services Directorate is responsible for: 

 Aboriginal program delivery 

 Institute communications 

 Regional campus administration 

 Student and customer services 

 Strategic planning 

 Management of the Library Resource Centre (from December 2013). 

 
Functions of the directorate encompass: 

 Provision of advice to Corporate Executive and the Governing Council on 

economic trends and policies impacting on institute operations 

 Management of strategic planning, governance and risk 

 Management of the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 

 Management of the Duty of Care for Minors Policy 

 Management of student support strategies including employment services, 

scholarships, and pastoral care  

 Management of Kadadjiny Noongar Moort Aboriginal training strategy 

 Coordination of institute and community events including the award night and 

career expo 

 Student enrolments and administration, including TAFE admissions and VET 

FEE-HELP 

 Management of institute website content 

 Media promotion and student publications. 

Major Achievements 

In 2013, the directorate: 

 Secured approval for the institute to operate as a VET FEE-HELP provider 

 Produced the DVD, ‘Moving on from School: Experiences of young people 

with disability’, which profiles eight young people sharing their training, 

employment, volunteer and community experiences since leaving school 

 Negotiated the delivery of the Certificate IV in Training and Assessment to 

Aboriginal employees in the public and private sector 

 Developed a new three-year Aboriginal training strategy aligned to the 

institute’s Strategic Plan 

 Piloted a successful Aboriginal School Based Traineeship to improve student 

access to qualifications in health and community services 

 Commenced publication of a twice yearly news magazine – ‘Prime’ – to 

complement the monthly online newsletters 
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 Consolidated an arrangement with Youth Care to provide campus-based 

pastoral care services to students. 

The Aboriginal Programs branch focused on developing strategies to link Aboriginal 
students with employers and deliver training relevant to the workplace. This strategy 
addressed the need for Aboriginal employees to gain the skills needed to progress 
beyond entry-level positions. 
 
The Communications branch and the Information Technology branch collaborated to 
develop a more contemporary website, which was launched in December.  
 

The directorate is responsible for the management and administration of the 
institute’s three regional campuses, and delivery at other regional centres, including 
community resource centres. The State Government allocated funding to redevelop 
the Mount Barker campus in the 2013-14 budget. 
 
 

The directorate undertakes research and planning and maintains an extensive 
industry and community network. In 2013, the directorate was represented on the 
regional Workforce Development Alliance – the steering group responsible for the 
2013 Great Southern Workforce Development Plan. 
 

Key Challenges 

In 2014, Future Skills WA will change the way training providers and students 
interact within the vocational education and training marketplace. As a result the 
institute expects students to place a greater emphasis on value, and the directorate 
will reflect this emphasis by reviewing product and service development, customer 
service, and public awareness. 
 

The Year Ahead 

The institute will work with the Aboriginal community to develop a Reconciliation 
Action Plan. This will be a formal framework to strengthen relationships with the 
Aboriginal community. 
 
The institute website will form the platform for raising the institute’s marketing 
profile through increased use of social media and integration of course information. 
 
Opportunities for students to use the UniLink articulation agreements to progress to 
higher-level qualifications will be strengthened through access to VET FEE-HELP. 
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Training Services Directorate 

Overview 

The Training Services Directorate has achieved its objectives for 2013 and is 
positioning for new challenges in 2014 as the institute implements Future Skills WA. 
Professional and career development has been focused on supporting our strategic 
directions in e-learning and the use of technology for efficiency and sustainability. 
In 2013, a whole-of-institute AQTF re-registration audit was carried out, and the 
auditors noted the best-practice relationships we have with our local industry and the 
community. 
The directorate continually reviews its business focus, in particular the preferred 
learning styles of its diverse region.  
A Facebook presence has been trialled and several high-quality e-books – to 
resource delivery in wool handling and aged care – are now available through 
iTunes. 
We will continue to grow our business in on-the-job training and assessment to 
support our claim of ‘anytime, anywhere’ responsiveness. 
 

Portfolio Reports 

Business and Creative Industries 

Role and function 

This portfolio provides training and workforce development in the following areas: 
 
Accounting and Bookkeeping 
Business 
Management 
Information Technology 
Design and Digital Media 
Management 

Work Health and Safety 
Project Management 
Local Government 
Government 
Human Resources 

 
Major achievements 

This portfolio delivered the Certificate III in Local Government, an online product 
which won a Government Skills Australia Excellence Award in 2012. 

Sustainability Lecturer Laura Bird was selected for a Sustainability Champion 
Scholarship Program for 2013, enabling her to complete a Vocational Graduate 
Certificate in Education and Training for Sustainability. The institute will benefit from 
Laura’s training, particularly as she is also a member of the sustainability committee.  

In another noteworthy achievement for teaching staff, Business Lecturer Gillian 
Hazel reached the semi-finals of the Western Australian Training Awards in the 
category of Trainer of the Year. 

Diploma of Management student Callum Hughes was granted a scholarship by 
AsiaBound, a project which funds Australians studying in Asia. Callum chose to take 
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the diploma in Cambodia because he is already familiar with the country, having 
visited with his family on numerous occasions for charity work. 

Diploma of Project Management students conducted a very successful Project 
Management Conference in November. For this event, the students were fortunate 
to secure the services of keynote speaker Chris Carmen, Chapter President of the 
Australian Institute of Project Management and Project Manager of the Albany 
Waterfront Project. 

Key challenges 

Reduced student numbers and thin markets in some areas across the portfolio are of 
concern. Strategies have been implemented to improve these areas and this will 
continue into 2014 to ensure that this institute remains the region’s provider of 
choice. 
 
The year ahead 

Certificate IV and Diploma of Information Technology students will start work 
placements to supplement their in-class delivery. We believe this will greatly improve 
student outcomes. 
 
A comprehensive suite of management training has been developed for local clients. 
Work will focus on local industry and developing relationships with new client groups. 
 

Communication and The Arts 

Role and function 

This portfolio provided vocational training and education in underpinning skills, the 
arts and professional qualifications for training, and coordinated delivery across the 
institute to schools and prisons.  

Training for individuals and workforce development was provided in the following 
areas:  

Music  
Art  
Language, Literacy and Numeracy 
programs  
Languages other than English (Italian, 
German) 
Visual Arts  

Work Education  
Training and Assessment  
Access and participation courses  
Vocational Education and Training in 
Schools (VETiS)  
Delivery at correctional centres 

Major achievements 

The portfolio continued its support of delivery across the institute through the 
provision of open access study sessions and through the provision of the Course in 
Applied Vocational Study Skills (CAVSS). CAVSS as a mechanism to support 
vocational learning was well recognised by vocational lecturers and demand for the 
program was significantly higher than in previous years. 
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Delivery in the visual arts area focussed on course completions this year and this 
has resulted in many students in Albany and regional campuses gaining either a 
Certificate II or a Certificate III in Visual Arts. 

Key challenges 

Music Business was identified as being a skills shortage area so a Certificate III in 
Music Business was developed and offered successfully in Semester 2. The course 
provided students, primarily interested in music, the opportunity to gain a 
qualification in a skills shortage area. The course challenged the skills of the 
lecturers and required cross-portfolio cooperation between music and business 
lecturers. 

E-literacies are an emerging demand area. An increasing number of occupations 
and training areas require people not only to have traditional literacy and numeracy 
skills, but also to be comfortable working and learning in an increasingly 
technological world.  Literacy lecturers have embraced this area and increasingly 
developed teaching and learning strategies for students using e-technologies 
including desktop computers and iPads. 

The half-cohort in the school sector provided some challenges for the management 
of VETiS programs as fewer students were available to take up options. The low 
numbers in some courses was challenging as portfolios needed to manage class 
sizes through mixed cohorts and multi-level options.  

The year ahead 

Communication and The Arts will undergo some major changes in 2014. The arts 
programs have been moved to the Business and Creative Industries portfolio to 
streamline delivery and the Communication and The Arts portfolio has been 
reformed and renamed Teaching and Learning, with added responsibilities to 
support academic excellence and academic rigour across the institute. 

Challenges for the portfolio include the increased demand from the school sector 
for qualifications at the Certificate II level and above, in alignment with changes in 
the Western Australian Certificate of Education (WACE) requirements.  

The portfolio will continue to deliver foundation programs and programs to support 
the foundation skills of all courses in the institute and will endeavour to embed e-
literacies into delivery methodologies. 

 

The Environment and Primary Industries 

Major achievements 

The section finished the year at 107 per cent of profile, an outstanding result largely 
due to the increase in the number of employment-based trainees. 

More than 170 trainees enrolled in 2013, with a noticeable increase in people from 
the shearing industry. 

Contractors have engaged trainees in the shearing teams throughout the Great  
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Southern and with the excellent seasonal growing conditions prevailing, this has 
resulted in an increase in the number of sheep being grazed in this district. Hence, 
the future also looks bright for 2014. 

Riding on the back of this significant study area was the development of an 
electronic version of a wool handling book, which is available on Apple’s iTunes 
store. Much research and time went into the development of an e-book of the 
paper-based version and its release featured in several rural newspapers as well as 
at numerous study area and industry meetings. 

The section also invested in the delivery of skillsets in the agricultural chemical field 
by offering the relevant units of competency for industry personnel to gain pesticide 
applicator licences, issued by the Department of Health. The section was successful 
in its application to the Department to become an accredited provider of such short 
courses. This has proven to be a popular choice for local industry as the nearest 
provider for such training prior to this was in Perth. 

Key challenges 

Delivery and assessment of industry-based trainees remains a key challenge to our 
lecturing staff. The general organisational ability to respond to these associated 
demands continues to stretch the institute’s resources, especially for travel, 
accommodation and time. 

Further, the demand for flexible resources such as online has steadied, but 
remains. Our ability to fund this development is limited given tight budgets and staff 
expertise in this area. 

The year ahead 

Dairy industry delivery is a model of working partnerships. Next year, this portfolio 
will make a concentrated effort to engage the dairy farming sector in scheduled 
workforce development training. 

As an alliance member of Dairy Australia’s training arm – the National Centre for 
Dairy Education Australia (NCDEA) – the portfolio is in a strong position to further 
develop the suite of training products available to this market. 

To date, the section has chiefly concentrated on industry traineeships with about 
eight trainees enrolled at any one time, but over the academic year, never more 
than 12 trainees having graduated. There is obvious clear growth available here. 

The section is currently planning a calendar of 2014 short courses, which will be 
distributed via Western Dairy throughout the southwest of the State. 

Western Dairy is directly responsible to Dairy Australia for regional development, so 
this network of operations, of which we are a part, should improve our position in 
this tight market. 

In addition to the traineeships and suite of short courses on offer, we will also enter 
into a Memorandum of Understanding with Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE in 
Victoria, Australia’s premier institute for dairy training, to offer the Diploma in 
Agriculture. Aimed at owners and managers, this course will give this institute the 
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complete package of dairy training from short courses and worker traineeships to 
management. The engagement of this project sits under the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development’s State Priority 1 Occupation List.   

The section is currently consulting with the Badgebup Aboriginal Corporation 
(BAC), a non-profit organisation providing benefits to members and the general 
community, on a Noongar Land Management and Conservation project at 
Badgebup Reserve in Katanning. 

Negotiations have resulted in the creation of training courses at Certificate II and III 
level as well as short courses to meet the needs of the Badgebup group.  

The engagement of this project meets the Department’s Training in Priority Areas 
initiative and consolidates delivery for the year ahead.  

Health Sciences and Community Services 

Role and function 

The Health Sciences and Community Services portfolio has a focus on people and 
communities. Its primary role is to provide training for individuals and workforce 
development in the following areas: 

Children’s Services  
Aged Care 
Education Support 
Career Development and Employment 
Services 
Community Services 
Sport and Recreation 

Dental 
Mentoring  
Nursing 
Child, Youth and Family Intervention 
Allied Health 
Massage 

 

Major achievements 

The portfolio achieved an increase of 20,000 student curriculum hours in 2013 
compared to 2012. 

A pilot of an Aboriginal School-Based Training (ASBT) Program for Year 10 students 
was delivered to address a skills shortage area within this portfolio. 

The program, which has a sport and fitness focus, was designed to encourage 
Aboriginal high school students to explore career pathways in these industry areas. 

Fourteen students from three local high schools engaged in the program, and 11 
qualified for their award. The portfolio will continue to work closely with the region’s 
Aboriginal community and education providers to encourage increased promotion, 
engagement and participation in Health Sciences and Community Services pathways. 

Delivery of VET in Schools (VETiS) programs in health pathways began at the new 
Albany Regional Health Trade Training Centre, which is located at neighbouring North 
Albany Senior High School. 
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The centre, which opened in 2013, was established to increase the proportion of 
students achieving Year 12 WACE or an equivalent qualification, and designed to meet 
regional health-related skills and labour shortages. 

The portfolio has been working closely with the region’s education providers with a view 
to offering VETiS training pathways aligned with the region’s workforce needs, 
particularly in relation to health. 

Using the new facilities, Certificate IV in Preparation for Entry into Nursing and 
Certificate II in Health Support Services were delivered. 

Steady growth in the area of children’s services resulted in 17 graduates from 
Certificate III and the Diploma of Children’s Services gaining employment.  

Key challenges 

Preparation for the introduction of Future Skills WA was a key challenge of 2013. 

These included anticipation of: 

 An increase in fees as a result of a reduction in student numbers, SCH and 
funding levels 

 Potential reduction in staffing levels and delivery resources 

 Increased competition from private training providers. 

The year ahead 

The portfolio expects an increase in the delivery of workshop-style training, such as 
customised short courses, in health and aged care. 

Ongoing networking and collaboration have been held with Regional Development 
Australia (RDA) and other relevant stakeholders to develop a Regional Children’s 
Services Plan. This plan, which will pertain to all nine RDA areas of Western Australia, 
is designed with the long-term aim of developing and supporting sustainable models of 
regional community-managed education and care services. 

To improve the quantity and quality of clinical training in nursing, aged care and allied 
health, the portfolio will continue to work with a range of stakeholders. These include 
WA Clinical Training Network, partner universities such as Curtin University for which 
the institute delivers the BSc (Nursing), the Albany Health Campus and regional aged 
care facilities. 

To promote and facilitate Aboriginal pathways to training and employment in health and 
community services, the portfolio will build on its work with the region’s Aboriginal 
community and education providers.  

This will encourage promotion, engagement and participation in pathways, such as the 
Year 10 Aboriginal School-Based Traineeship in Sport Fitness and Health. 
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Trades and Allied Industries  

Major achievements 

The students in the pre-apprentice Metal Fabrication program assisted in designing and 
building welding bays specifically for their course. Due to the increase in apprentice 
numbers, access to the welding bays was becoming limited so the student group 
assisted in this productive building program. The new workspace was developed with 
assistance of lecturers and trades technicians.  

The metal fabrication section has taken delivery of a press brake – a computer-driven, 
up-to-date piece of training equipment. 

The Trades portfolio has been performing verifications of competency (VOCs) in 
hospitality and commercial cookery at Onslow and Bunbury with the company 
International Dredging. VOCs are conducted on all mine sites and associated industries 
to verify that workers have the appropriate skills. Lecturers have made four trips to carry 
out these assessments on barges off Onslow. 

The Busy Bee Creations program was delivered again this year, receiving praise from 
all those who bought items from the participants in the program and highly commended 
by the external auditors. Busy Bee Creations is a program for people with disability, 
which develops business, marketing and sales skills for a range of sewn products. This 
year, the students were supported in developing web pages to sell their products. 

Key challenges 

One of the key challenges this year has been the ability to source relief staff for a large 
number of lecturers on sick leave and long service leave. 
 
The external audit for 2013 was a challenge for the trades department with 18 
qualifications chosen to be audited. A huge effort by all the staff enabled the 
department to have two sections with best practice comments. Five non-compliances 
have been seen as opportunities to improve our practices and prompted the 
development of new documents and processes. 
 
The year ahead  

Student numbers are looking strong for institutional classes in 2014. Apprentice signups 
will be slow with the building industry gradually picking up. This should see apprentice 
numbers slowly increasing. 
 
Delivery to schools is increasing in demand for 2014 with hospitality programs operating 
at four schools. Building and Construction training is also operating at three delivery 
sites and a record number applied for positions at the institute. 
 
The Wheatstone Bechtel project is an existing new venture for lecturer involvement. 
This project is still in the early stages of planning but will extend the institute’s range of 
delivery into the mining industry.  
Trainee delivery in Christmas and Cocos Islands is another exciting project with which 
lecturers are looking forward to being involved. 
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Skills Development Centre 

Role and function 

The Skills Development Centre is the fee-for-service arm of the institute, delivering an 
extensive range of short courses to individuals, government and corporate sectors. The 
centre competes in the open market for tendered program funding, and delivers skills 
development and lifestyle courses on a user-pays basis. 
Complementary products include workforce development planning and consultancy 
services, international student recruitment and off-shore projects. 
 
Major achievements 

The year was a mixed one for the Skills Development Centre, which experienced a 
surge in demand for its fee-for-service activities and a reduction of business in tendered 
programs. With both State and Commonwealth elections occurring in 2013, the funding 
available through government agencies for tendered training activities was significantly 
reduced as caretaker conventions were imposed. Further impacts resulted from 
government cutbacks and re-assessment of funding priorities. On a State level, funding 
was withdrawn from many niche market programs, in preparation for the introduction of 
the entitlement funding model. 
 
In 2013 approximately 3500 students participated in more than 400 Skills Development 
Centre short courses. Training occurred throughout the State of WA, across industry 
areas such as mining, construction, oil and gas, agriculture, local Government and civil 
construction. High-risk licensed programs and earthmoving training were heavily 
subscribed, followed closely by workplace health and safety. 
 
Towards the end of 2013, our new purpose-built, high-risk training facility was 
completed. This is a major asset for the region, expanding the availability of local 
specialist training for Great Southern residents. This facility addresses constraints on 
delivery that were previously experienced through restrictions imposed by shared 
facilities. 
 
The Skills Development Centre continued to expand its VOC (Verification of 
Competency) services across the State, including those to the Wheatstone project at 
Onslow. Existing partnerships with long-term mining clients were re-affirmed and 
trainers deployed across the State to undertake training and assessment services. 
 
Tendered training activity continued through contracts with the Department of 
Agriculture and Food and the Language, Literacy and Numeracy Program (now Skills 
for Education and Employment), while new products and services were evaluated in the 
context of workforce development opportunities for the region and beyond. 
 

Products and services that align well with online delivery have been identified, with 
development scheduled to start in 2014. 
 
 
Key challenges 

An increasingly competitive business environment is a key challenge for the Skills 
Development Centre, which is bound by government protocols and industrial conditions. 
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The adoption of an entitlement funding model in WA has added to the competitiveness 
and brought a new dimension to market participation. 
 
Funding reductions and restrictions by the Government on travel and motor vehicle 
fleets also contribute to the challenges of operating a statewide fee-for-service business 
in a public sector environment. 

The year ahead 

The Skills Development Centre is a mature business with an established market 
position, which forms the foundation for attracting and maintaining clients. In 2014, the 
centre will focus on maintaining existing business levels through the high-quality service 
and responsiveness on which it is founded. 
 
Growth will be concentrated on the provision of online services through targeting of 
lucrative, niche markets that have expansion potential. 
 
Tender opportunities will continue to be pursued, as a result of the Commonwealth 
determining its funding priorities and re-opening funding channels. 
 
Library Resource Centre 

Role and function 

The Library Resource Centre provides services, resources and facilities in support of 
the educational delivery and professional development programs delivered by Great 
Southern Institute of Technology. 

Major achievements 

The library’s continued collaboration through the Learning Resource Services Network 
(LRSN) with other State Training Provider libraries supports access for students and 
staff to a wide variety of information sources at consortium prices. These include journal 
databases, e-books in a variety of disciplines, and LibGuides. 

For the past year the LRSN has been working towards the implementation of Primo, a 
discovery layer that simultaneously searches the library catalogue and online content 
such as journal databases and presents the results as one consolidated list. Primo went 
live in December and will be promoted to staff and students under the name of 
SuperSearch in 2014. 

Another major achievement has been the implementation of Ezyproxy, which allows 
automatic on-campus access to online content via IP recognition. Off-campus access 
requires a user name and password. 

Participation in the LRSN has also assisted library staff, through the sharing of 
knowledge and expertise, to achieve and maintain high professional standards. 

The trend away from print resources to an increasing reliance on digital online 
resources continued. Accordingly, the entire collection is being systematically reviewed, 
with older print-based resources culled and replaced with a smaller number of current 
print and digital resources. 
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The library now provides staff access to Lynda.com, an online training library of short 
instructional videos across a wide range of subject areas, and software for use both on 
and off campus. Access to this database for students has been made possible through 
a dedicated computer in the Library. 

A number of online library guides across a range of subject areas including copyright, 
sustainability, occupational health and safety, and study skills have been created, and 
more are planned for next year. These can be readily incorporated into Moodle 
programs to facilitate access to relevant information sources for staff and students.  

The library has continued to be a focus for lecturers and students in the Health 
Sciences and Community Services, and Communication and the Arts areas in 
particular. Facilities, resources and services are well used by these groups throughout 
the year. Library staff continue to deliver training on internet searching, journal 
database searching, referencing and copyright law. 

Key challenges 

The ongoing proliferation of online information sources continues to pose a significant 
challenge to information specialists who need to ensure that the most current and 
relevant resources are identified and communicated to staff and students. A major 
challenge is the increasing cost of access to some of the most relevant online 
databases, some of which are increasingly only affordable by larger, more affluent 
institutions. 

In 2013, staff focused on maintenance of frontline services to students and academic 
staff and this delayed the completion of the collection review and library guides. 

The year ahead 

2014 will see the implementation and promotion of the new SuperSearch discovery 
layer, and training of staff and students in its use. Creation of library guides will continue 
in association with the upgrading of all information links on the new library webpage. 

Library staff will continue to undertake research, in collaboration with lecturers, to 
identify the best online information resources to support course delivery and 
professional development. 
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Section 3 

Significant Issues, Economic and Social Trends 

As the only State Training Provider based in the Great Southern region, the institute 
has an obligation to meet the diverse training needs of both community and industry. 
This obligation is reflected in the broad scope of the institute’s qualification profile and 
the diversity of the student body: 

 33 training packages on scope in addition to 320 accredited courses 

 14.9 per cent of institute enrolments are full time 

 68 per cent of students are in the lowest two socio-economic quartiles 

 18.6 per cent of students identify as either being Aboriginal, having English as a 
second language, or having a disability 

 36 per cent of students had a previous educational level below Year 11. 

The population of the Great Southern region is 55,000 (2011 census) with about 60 per 
cent resident in the City of Albany.  

Future regional population growth will be concentrated in the south coastal local 
government authorities of Albany, Denmark and Plantagenet. Inclusion of Katanning in 
the Royalties for Regions ‘Super Town’ initiative may halt the population decline in this 
local government authority. 

Of the regional population, 30.1 per cent is aged over 55 years, compared with 23.3 per 
cent for Western Australia. This trend towards an older demographic is forecast to 
continue with the ageing of the workforce, and inward migration of tree and sea 
changers nearing retirement age.  

The region has 2.6 per cent of the West Australian labour force, with variable 
unemployment rates across the region – the estimated unemployment rate for Albany 
was 5.4 per cent, and for Katanning 10 per cent in June 2013. Underemployment 
compounds the problem as illustrated by the region having a household taxable income 
that is 20 per cent below the Western Australian State average.  

Census data from 2011 has confirmed the trend towards an increasing number of 
Aboriginal residents in the Great Southern region with 3.4 per cent (or 2095) of 
residents identifying as Aboriginal.  Aboriginal unemployment is 16.5 per cent with a 
participation rate of less than 50 per cent. Only 18 per cent of the Aboriginal population 
has completed Year 12 compared to 41 per cent of the non-Aboriginal population.  

The region is well established as the second largest agricultural producer in Western 
Australia, producing commodities with a gross annual value of $1.1 billion.  

Grain harvests for the 2013 season have been at record levels and this will boost the 
regional economy in 2014.  

Development of the region’s mineral deposits continues to be delayed by falling 
commodity prices and problems with capital raising. It is considered unlikely that the 
proposed $2 billion magnetite mine at Southdown will move into the construction phase 
before 2015. 
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At Ravensthorpe, the First Quantum nickel mine is operational, and the nearby Galaxy 
lithium mine has moved from care and maintenance to being mothballed. 

Drilling continues at the Ausgold tenement in Katanning. As the share price of Ausgold 
has dropped from $1.30 in 2012 to $0.03 in late 2013, it is considered the initial 
projections of a large-scale mining development by 2015 are unlikely to be realised. 

This region is a popular domestic tourism destination, with 80 per cent of visitors 
coming from WA. Centenary events surrounding Anzac in 2014 and 2015 are 
anticipated to generate a spike in domestic tourism.  

Of the more than 7000 businesses registered in the region, 50 per cent operate as sole 
traders. 

Commercial construction in the region has been reliant on government infrastructure 
spending and from 2013, this level of investment will reduce. 

Residential construction has remained stagnant. This has been despite interest rates 
continuing to decline and a surplus of residential land driving down block prices. 

These broad regional economic trends are expected to translate into reduced demand 
for trade-based apprentices in the region.  

In 2014, the impact of changes to apprenticeship wages through Fair Work Australia 
may also act as a drag on apprenticeship and traineeship employment. 

Fly in fly out (FIFO) operations continue to attract skilled workers from the region, 
leading to skills shortages in some trades. FIFO also reduces the capacity of small 
business to support employment-based training.  

In 2015 and 2016, WACE reforms will be implemented.  Forty per cent of all secondary 
school students will require a Certificate II outcome to receive a WACE. In 2013, the 
institute started to liaise with regional schools to ensure that the quality of VET 
qualifications will not be compromised by WACE reforms. 
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Section 4 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 
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Financial Statements Certificate



41 
 

Financial Statements 

 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

  
 

2013 
 

2012 
 
COST OF SERVICES 
 

Note $ $ 

Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 6 17,207,574 17,499,420 

Supplies and services 7 5,285,386 6,086,489 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 873,737 795,504 

Grants and subsidies 9 4,345 4,388 

Cost of sales 14 264,865 298,409 

Other expenses 10 1,539,760 1,349,780 

Total cost of services  25,175,667 26,033,991 

    
Income    

Revenue    

Fee for service 11 1,743,119 2,185,525 

Student fees and charges 12 1,929,628 1,658,678 

Ancillary trading 13 177,193 158,652 

Sales 14 483,037 545,274 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 15 480,005 550,756 

Interest revenue 16 275,423 413,657 

Other revenue 17 212,310 238,681 

Total revenue  5,300,715 5,751,223 

Gains   

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 18 4,429 6,155 

Total gains  4,429 6,155 

Total income other than income from State Government 5,305,144 5,757,378 
    

NET COST OF SERVICES  19,870,523 20,276,613 

Income From State Government    

Service appropriation 19 19,332,803 18,945,693 

Resources received free of charge 19 559,219 550,584 

Total income from State Government  19,892,022 19,496,277 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR PERIOD  21,499 (780,336) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 31 348,377 68,513 

Total other comprehensive income  348,377 68,513 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE  PERIOD 369,876 (711,823) 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2013 

  2013 2012 

 Note $ $ 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 32 5,489,746 5,120,780 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 590,796 546,137 

Inventories 21 37,978 48,585 

Receivables 22 475,110 425,695 

Other current assets 23 119,474 147,143 

Total Current  Assets 
 

6,713,104 6,288,340 

   
 

Non-Current Assets  
 

 

Property, plant and equipment 24 26,152,491 26,307,149 

Intangible assets 26 97,172 - 

Total Non-Current Assets  26,249,663 26,307,149 

   
 

TOTAL ASSETS  32,962,767 32,595,489 

    

LIABILITIES  
 

 

Current Liabilities    

Payables 28 704,510 977,660 

Provisions 29 2,305,539 2,326,428 

Other current liabilities 30 80,987 178,924 

Total Current Liabilities 
 

3,091,036 3,483,012 

   
 

Non-Current Liabilities  
 

 

Provisions 29 670,999 726,081 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 
 

670,999 726,081 

   
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,762,035 4,209,093 

    

NET ASSETS  29,200,732 28,386,396 

    

Equity  
 

 

Contributed equity 31 5,363,477 4,919,017 

Reserves 31 7,738,626 7,390,249 

Accumulated surplus 31 16,098,629 16,077,130 

 
 

 
 

TOTAL  EQUITY  29,200,732 28,386,396 

    

 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 

 
 Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Accumulated 

surplus /  
(deficit) Total Equity 

 Note $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 January 2012  4,919,017 7,321,736 16,857,466 29,098,219 

Deficit  - - (780,336) (780,336) 

Other comprehensive income  - 68,513 - 68,513 

 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

 - 68,513 (780,336) (711,823) 

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners 

 
  

  

Capital appropriations - - - - 

Total 4,919,017 7,390,249 16,077,130 28,386,396 - 

      

      

Balance at 31 December 2012  4,919,017 7,390,249 16,077,130 28,386,396 

      

Balance at 1 January 2013      

Surplus - - 21,499 21,499 

Other comprehensive income  - 348,377 - 348,377 

 

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 

 - 348,377 21,499 369,876 

      

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

 
  

  

Capital appropriations 444,460 - - 444,460 

Total  444,460 - - 444,460 

    

Balance at 31 December 2013  5,363,477 7,738,626 16,098,629 29,200,732 

 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 

  2013 2012 

 Note $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    

Service appropriation–Dept of Training &  

Workforce Development 
 19,332,803 18,945,693 

Capital appropriation  - Dept of Training &  

Workforce Development 
 444,460  

Net cash provided by State Government  19,777,263 18,945,693 

    

Utilised as follows:    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 
   

Payments    

Employee benefits  (17,299,939) (17,385,344) 

Supplies and services  (4,955,755) (6,086,490) 

Grants and subsidies  (4,345) (4,388) 

GST payments on purchases  (599,952) (675,721) 

GST payments to taxation authority  (224,802) (298,409) 

Other payments  (1,675,098) (1,342,458) 

Receipts    

Fee for service  1,718,372 2,277,146 

Student fees and charges  1,884,183 1,545,031 

Ancillary trading  177,193 158,652 

Commonwealth grants and contributions   480,005 550,756 

Interest received  304,361 447,657 

GST receipts from on sales  233,234 270,496 

GST receipts from taxation authority  591,522 405,225 

Sale of Goods  493,644 557,109 

Other receipts  96,185 357,599 

Net cash used in operating activities 32 (18,781,192) (19,533,883) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments 

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (592,787) (603,767) 

Receipts 

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  10,342 8,500 

Net cash used in investing activities  (582,445) (595,267) 

    

    

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  413,626 (1,183,457) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  5,666,917 6,850,375 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD 32 6,080,543 5,666,917 

 

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 

1. Australian Accounting Standards 

(a) General  

The Institute’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Institute has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates. 

(b) Early adoption of standards 

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements’. There has been no early adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Institute 
for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2013. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements. Unless otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the 
previous year. 

(a) General statement 

The Institute is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as 
applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land and buildings which have been measured at fair 
value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of preparation (continued) 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($).  

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting 
policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material  adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

(c) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) 
as contributions  by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 31 ‘Equity’. 

(d) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. 

The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student 
fees and charges, fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth 
grants and contributions. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

i. Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured 
reliably. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Income (continued) 

ii. Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

iii. Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.  

iv. Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at 
their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Institute obtains control over the funds. The Institute obtains control of the funds at the time 
the funds are deposited into the Institute’s bank account. 

v. Service appropriations  

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Institute gains control of the appropriated funds The Institute gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account.  

vi. State funds 

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect 
of the delivery of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included 
in State funds, disclosed under ‘Income from State Government'. They are the result of 
training successfully tendered for under competitive tendering arrangements. This revenue is 
recognised at nominal value in the period in which the Institute meets the terms of the 
Agreement. See note 19 'Income from State Government'. 

vii. Gains 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Property, plant and equipment  

i. Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and 
the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Where applicable 
in accordance with TI 1101, the capitalisation threshold has been applied to the aggregate 
value of a group or network of assets where the cost of individual item may be below the 
threshold but collectively the cost of the items in the group or network exceeds the threshold. 
Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are significant in total). 

ii. Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.  

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is 
the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

iii. Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of land and buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
(buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent market transactions.  
When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated 
depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount.  

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on 
the basis of existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where 
land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the 
cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the 
depreciated replacement cost basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. Fair 
value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with 
similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land less estimated rehabilitation costs (low restricted use land). 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated 
useful life. 

Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a 
clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. Refer to note 25 ‘Fair 
Value Measurements’ for further information on revaluations. 

iv. Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

v. Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
and note 25 ‘Fair Value Measurements’. 

vi. Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. 

Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings      40 years 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers   4 to 23 years 

Plant, furniture and general equipment  4 to 28 years 

Computing, communications and software (a) 1 to 15 years 

 
(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

Land is not depreciated.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Intangible assets 

i. Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible 
assets costing $5,000 or more, are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  
All intangible assets controlled by the Institute have a finite useful life and zero residual 
value.  The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

Licences   up to 10 years 

Development costs  3 to 5 years 

Software (a)   3 to 5 years 

Website costs   3 to 5 years 

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware. 

ii. Licences 

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

iii. Computer software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment.  Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an 
intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

iv. Web site costs  

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the 
acquisition or development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in 
building or enhancing a web site that can be reliably measured, are capitalised, to the extent 
that they represent probable future economic benefits.  

(g) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, 
the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  
 
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.   
 
Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is 
recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Institute is a 
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement 
cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.  

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined 
by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and 
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.  

See note 27 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See 
note 2(n) ‘Receivables’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables. 

(h) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Leases 

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the 
lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the 
lease.  The assets are disclosed as land, buildings, capital works in progress, motor vehicles 
caravans and trailers, plant, furniture and general equipment, computer equipment and 
communication network.  The assets are depreciated over the period during which the 
Institute is expected to benefit from their use.  Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The Institute has entered into operating lease arrangements for photocopier and printers. 
Payments are made for consumables only on as an “as used “ basis. 

(j) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Institute has two categories of financial 
instruments: 

Loans and receivables; and 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

i. Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 

ii. Financial liabilities 

Payables 
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as 
the effect of discounting is not material. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
restricted cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.  

(l) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (see note 28 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not 
coincide with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of 
the financial year end. The Institute considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its fair value. 

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of ten financial 
years to largely meet the additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days 
occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 

(m) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned 
by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being 
measured on a first in first out basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in 
which case they are measured at net realisable value. 

See note 21 ‘Inventories’. 

(n) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 2(j) 
‘Financial instruments’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’. 

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Institute becomes obliged to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 28 
‘Payables’. 

(p) Borrowings 

All loans payable are initially recognised at the fair value, being the net proceeds received.  
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

See note 2(j) ‘Financial instruments’. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
See note 29 ‘Provisions’.  

i. Provisions – employee benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services 
up to the end of the reporting period. 

 

Annual leave 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. 
The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement. 

 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. 

 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. 

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at 
the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(q) Provisions (continued) 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Institute does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Institute has 
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service. 

 

Deferred Leave 

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered 
into an agreement to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the 
agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be 
used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. 
Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at 
their discretion at any time. 

 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public 
sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme  
closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a 
defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of 
either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West 
State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 
16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 
2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to 
choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Institute makes contributions to 
GESB or other funds providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  
Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Institute’s liability for 
superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension 
Scheme or GSS.  

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute 
purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s obligations to the related superannuation 
liability. 

The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for 
the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to 
members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All 
other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Institute to the 
GESB.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(q) Provisions (continued) 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and 
is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer's share. See also note 2(r) 
'Superannuation expense'. 

ii. Provisions - other 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to 
which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other 
expenses' and are not included as part of the Institute's 'Employee benefits expense’. The 
related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. (See note 10 'Other expenses' 
and note 29 'Provisions'.) 

 (r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS), the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS) and other 
superannuation funds.  

(s) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Institute would 
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets 
or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for 
services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(t) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements.  The Institute evaluates these judgements regularly. 

Operating Lease Commitments 

The Institute has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease.  

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions in calculating the Institute’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates 
and expected future payments.  Changes in these estimations and assumptions may 
impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Institute has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 that impacted on the Institute. 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring 
fair value and requires additional disclosures for fair value 
measurements for non-financial assets and liabilities. There is no 
financial impact. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making 
changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure 
requirements. 

The Institute assessed employee leave patterns to determine 
whether annual leave is a short-term or other long-term employee 
benefit. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were 
previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material. 

 

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 
116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 
139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 
131 & 132] 

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance 
in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the 
result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial 
impact. 

 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 
121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 &1049] 

This Standard requires to group items presented in other 
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification 
adjustments). There is no financial impact. 

 

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 
119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 
and Int 14] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities 
that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not 
material. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132] 

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include 
information that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to 
evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, 
including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised 
financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s 
financial position. There is no financial impact. 

 

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 
2] 

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 
improvements process. There is no financial impact. 

 

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory 
Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-
11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8] 

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 
Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 2013). 
Further amendments are also made to numerous consequential 
amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 
2015. There is no financial impact. 

 

AASB 
2013-2 

Amendments to AASB 1038 – Regulatory Capital 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative  

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements'. Consequently, the Institute has not applied early any of the following 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Institute. Where 
applicable, the Institute plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date 

 
 Operative for 

reporting 
periods 

beginning 
on / after 

Int 21 Levies 

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a 
liability to pay a government levy imposed should be 
recognised. There is no financial impact for the Institute at 
reporting date. 
 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard was 
amended to 1 January 2015.The Institute has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2015 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-
profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other 
Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard has no 
financial impact for the Institute as it doesn’t impact 
accounting for related bodies and the Institute has no 
interests in other entities. 

1 Jan 2014 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued) 
 

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, removing 
the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst 
retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the 
preparation of separate financial statements. Mandatory 
application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities 
by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 

This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, 
the circumstances in which they are to be included in the 
general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities 
within the General Government Sector. The Institute will be 
required to disclose additional budgetary information and 
explanations of major variances between actual and 
budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2014 

AASB 2009-
11 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 
12] 

[modified by AASB 2010-7] 

1 Jan 2015 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137,139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The Institute has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.  

1 Jan 2015 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 20123 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued) 
 

AASB 2012-
3 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 
132] 

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to 
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the 
offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that 
some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement. 

The Institute does not routinely hold financial assets and 
financial liabilities that it intends to settle on a net basis, 
therefore there is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2013-
3 

Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets. 

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure 
changes. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2013-
4 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting [AASB 139] 

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge 
accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which 
has been designated as a hedging instrument, is 
novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty 
as a consequence of laws or regulations. The Institute 
does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges; 
therefore there is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2013-
8 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit 
Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 
& 1049]. 

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide 
significant guidance to clarify whether determine whether 
a not-for-profit entity controls another entity when 
financial returns aren’t a key attribute of the investor’s 
relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its 
own right, rather the impact results from the adoption of 
the amended AASB 10 

1 Jan 2014 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 20123 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued) 
 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standard 1 Jul 2013 

AASB 
2010-2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 
1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 
117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 
137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 
127, 129 & 1052] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-
2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-
4 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to 
Remove Individual Key Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 124] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-
6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method 
and Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-
11 

Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising 
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Fair Value Measurement - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Other 
Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 
& 2011-4] 
 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2013-1 Amendments to AASB 1049 – Relocation of 
Budgetary Reporting Requirements 
 

1 Jul 2014 

AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Investment Entities [AASB 1, 3, 7, 10, 12, 107, 112, 
124, 127, 132, 134 & 139] 
 

1 Jan 2014 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued) 
 

AASB 2013-6 Amendments to AASB 136 arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements 

 

        1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2013-7 Amendments to AASB 1038 arising from AASB 10 in 
relation to consolidation and interests of policyholders 

1 Jan 2014 

 
 
 
6.  Employee Benefits Expense 

 
2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Wages and salaries 
(a)

 15,351,810 15,992,316 

Voluntary Severance Scheme payments 
(b)

 413,714 - 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans 
(c)

 1,442,050 1,507,104 

 17,207,574 17,499,420 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 

 
(b) During 2013 three employees chose to participate in a voluntary severance scheme. 

 
(c) Defined contribution plans include West State, and Gold State and GESBS and other eligible 

funds. 
Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 10 'Other 
expenses'. Employment on-costs liability is included at note 29 'Provisions'. 

7. Supplies and Services 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Consumables and minor equipment 
703,266 998,912 

Communication expenses  

113,091 131,453 
Utilities expenses  

353,453 371,185 
Consultancies and contracted services  

2,525,213 2,471,509 
Minor works  

594,405 941,695 
Repairs and maintenance  

89,938 88,649 
Operating lease and hire charges  

284,752 326,063 
Travel and passenger transport   

146,069 239,943 
Advertising and public relations  

85,177 154,072 
Supplies and services – other 

390,022 363,009 
 5,285,386 6,086,490 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

8.  Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 

 
2013 2012 

Depreciation $ $ 

Buildings 556,711 562,614 

Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 48,315 54,089 

Plant, furniture and general equipment 103,085 109,268 

Computers and communication network 127,876 69,533 

Total Depreciation 835,987 795,504 

Amortisation   

Software 37,750 - 

Total Amortisation 37,750 - 

Total depreciation and amortisation 873,737 795,504 

 
9.  Grants and Subsidies 

 
2013 2012 

Recurrent $  

Payments to non-TAFE providers for VET service delivery 273 - 

Other 4,072 4,388 

 4,345 4,388 

 
10.  Other Expenses 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Building maintenance  265,777 264,990 

Doubtful debts expense 6,826 5,314 

Employment on-costs (a) 1,117,500 1,059,740 

Student Prizes & Awards 24,936 14,693 

Losses and write-offs  122,701 2,007 

Donations 1,600 3,036 

Other 420 - 

Total 1,539,760 1,349,780 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 29 
'Provisions'.  Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee 
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

 

11.  Fee for Service 

 
2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Fee for service - general 1,321,514 1,342,648 

Fee for service – Department of Training and Workforce Development 273,435 431,160 

Fee for service – Government (other than Department of Training 
    and Workforce Development 

14,943 301,178 

International division Fees 133,227 110,539 

 1,743,119 2,185,525 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

12.  Student Fees and Charges 

 
2013 

$ 
2012 

$ 

Tuition fees 1,152,305 969,521 

Resource fees 543,865 440,923 

Other Institute fees 233,458 248,234 

 1,929,628 1,658,678 

 
13.  Ancillary Trading 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Live works (not a trading activity) 95,891 88,896 

Other ancillary revenue 81,302 69,756 

Total 177,193 158,652 

 
14.  Trading Profit 

 2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

(a) Bookshop   

Sales 129,525 169,809 

Cost of sales:   

Opening inventory (45,397) (56,692) 

Purchases (102,317) (119,567) 

Goods available for sale (147,714) (176,259) 

Closing inventory  35,756 45,397 

Cost of goods sold (111,958) (130,862) 

Trading Profit - Bookshop 17,567 38,947 

   

(b) Cafeteria   

Sales 351,108 372,422 

Cost of sales:   

Opening inventory (3,188) (4,066) 

Purchases (151,941) (166,669) 

Goods available for sale (155,129) (170,735) 

Closing inventory  2,222 3,188 

Cost of goods sold (152,907) (167,547) 

Trading Profit - Cafeteria 198,201 204,875 

   

Other Sales 2,404 3,043 

See note 2(m) 'Inventories' and note 21 'Inventories'. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

15.  Commonwealth Grants and Contributions 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions 480,005 550,756 

 480,005 550,756 

 
16.  Interest Revenue 

 2013 2011 

 $ $ 

Interest Revenue 275,423 413,657 

Total 275,423 413,657 

 
17.  Other Revenue 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Rental and facilities fees 28,829 46,571 

Other direct grants and subsidy revenue (a), (b), (c) 23,209 94,500 

Sponsorship and donations revenue  13,960 24,195 

Insurance recoveries 115,981 35,714 

Miscellaneous revenue  30,331 37,701 

Total 212,310 238,681 

(a) Royalties for regions fund $ -  (2012: $94,000) 
(b) Great Southern Development Commission $ - (2012: $500) 
(c) Refund of overpayment of fees $23,209 (2012:$ - ) 

 
18.  Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Costs of disposal of non-current assets 
 

 

Buildings (5,913) - 

Plant, furniture and general equipment - (2,345) 

Total cost of disposal of non-current assets (5,913) (2,345) 

  
 

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets 
 

 

Buildings 464 - 

Plant, furniture and general equipment 9,878 8,500 

Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 10,342 8,500 

Net gain / (loss) 4,429 6,155 

   

See note 2(h) 'Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’ and note 24 ‘Property, 
plant and equipment’.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

19.  Income from State Government 
 

 
Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following  
estimates provided by agencies: 
 

Department of Training and Workforce Development   

- Corporate systems support 350,289 479,736 

- Human resources, industrial relations support 12,353 16,950 

- Other 51,869 53,898 

 
414,511 550,584 

Department of Education   

- Human resources, industrial relations support 144,708 - 

 144,708 - 

Total resources received free of charge 559,219 550,584 

   

Total Income from State Government 19,892,022 19,496,277 

 

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash 
component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation 
expense for the year and any agreed increase in liability during the year. 

(b) Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are 
reported as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State Government.  Transfers of assets and 
liabilities in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the 
transferor and contribution by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. 
Other non-discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners 
under TI 955 are also recognised directly to equity. 

 
20.  Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Current 2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

Specific capital works projects and equipment (a)  8,689 135,272 

Allowance for 27
th
 Pay (b) 561,165 401,989 

Allowance for deferred salaries (c) 12,566 - 

Specific donations (d) 8,376 8,876 

 590,796 546,137 

Appropriation received during the year    

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Department of Training and Workforce Development   

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 18,867,714 18,933,745 

Other recurrent funds 465,089 11,948 

Total funds from Dep of Training and Workforce Development 19,332,803 18,945,693 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

20. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 
 

(a) Relates to retention monies withheld upon completion of the Skills Development Shed project.  (2012: Royalty 
for Regions funds $94,000, Retention funds on C and D block project $16,167 and provision for Environmental 
Protection Agency costs $25,105) 

(b) Amount held to meet 27 pays in 2014 being one additional pay period more than the normal 26 pays per annum. 
(c) Amount held to meet salaries due to staff, who have elected to defer payment to purchase additional leave at a 

later time. 
(d) Funds for Mick Young Trust $64 (2012: $64) and Denmark Music Foundation $8,312 (2012: $8,812) 

 

21.  Inventories 
 2013 2012 

Current $ $ 

Inventories held for resale:   

 Bookshop (at cost) 35,756 45,397 

 Cafeteria (as cost) 2,222 3,188 

Total 37,978 48,585 

See also note 2(m) ‘Inventories’ and note 14 ‘Trading profit/(loss)’ 

 
22.  Receivables 

 
2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

Current   

Receivables -trade 306,844 250,179 

Receivables - students 6,011 2,244 

Accrued income  96,702 107,197 

Allowance for impairment of receivables (14,129) (7,303) 

GST receivable 79,682 73,378 

Total Current  475,110 425,695 

 
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 
receivables: 

  

Balance at start of period 7,303 1,989 

Doubtful debts expense  6,826 5,314 

Amounts written off during the period - - 

Balance at End of Period 14,129 7,303 

 
 The Institute does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 

See also note 2(n) ‘Receivables’ and note 38 ‘Financial instruments’. 

 
23. Other current assets  
 

 
2013 2012 

Current $ $ 

Prepayments 119,474 147,143 

 
119,474 147,143 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

24.  Property, Plant and Equipment 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Land   

At fair value 
(a)

 2,610,000 2,690,000 

Accumulated impairment losses - - 

 
2,610,000 2,690,000 

Buildings 
 

 

At fair value 
(a)

 22,546,007 22,373,400 

Accumulated depreciation  - - 

 
22,546,007 22,373,400 

Capital Works in Progress   

Construction costs -  10,426 478,672 

Computer upgrade 10,598 - 

 21,024 478,672 

Motor Vehicles, Caravans and Trailers 
 

 

At cost 549,656 549,656 

Accumulated depreciation (374,653) (326,338) 

 
175,003 223,318 

Plant, Furniture and General Equipment 
 

 

At cost 1,343,331 1,315,319 

Accumulated depreciation (911,518) (882,079) 

 
431,813 433,240 

Computer Equipment, Communication Network 
 

 

At cost 1,048,168 723,768 

Accumulated depreciation (679,524) (615,249) 

 
368,644 108,519 

 
 

 

 
26,152,491 26,307,149 

 
a. Land and buildings were revalued as at 1July 2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 

Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 31 December 2013 and recognised at 31 
December 2013. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: 
$2,610,000 (2012: $ 2,690,000) and buildings: $22,546,007 (2012: $22,373,400). See note 2(e) 'Property, plant and 
equipment'.  Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

24.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
reporting period are set out below: 

2013 Land Buildings Capital 
works in 
progress 

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and 
trailers 

Plant, 
furniture 

and 
general 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment, 

communication 
network 

Total 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of year 

2,690,000 22,373,400 478,673 223,318 433,240 108,519 26,307,150 

Additions - - 21,024 - 89,958 399,701 510,683 

Transfers - 425,854 (425,854) - 11,700 (11,700) - 

Disposals - (125,000)  - - - (125,000) 

Other 
Movement 

  (52,819)    (52,819) 

Revaluation 
Increments/ 
(decrements) 

(80,000) 428,464 - - - - 348,464 

Depreciation 
expense 

- (556,711) - (48,315) (103,085) (127,876) (835,987) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

2,610,000 22,546,007 21,024 175,003 431,813 368,644 26,152,491 

 

2012 Land Buildings Capital 
works in 
progress 

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and 
trailers 

Plant, 
furniture 

and 
general 

equipment 

Computer 
equipment, 

communication 
network 

Total 

Carrying 
amount at 
start of year 

2,720,000 19,076,426 3,756,164 268,498 433,578 178,051 26,432,718 

Additions - 3,761,075 478,673 8,909 111,275 - 4,359,931 

Transfers - - (3,756,164)  - - (3,756,164) 

Disposals - - -  (2,345) - (2,345) 

Revaluation 
Increments/ 
(decrements) 

(30,000) 98,513 -  - - 68,513 

Depreciation 
expense 

- (562,614) - (54,089) (109,268) (69,533) (795,504) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year 

2,690,000 22,373,400 478,673 223,318 433,240 108,518 26,307,149 

 

(a) The Department of Lands is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to the Department 
of Lands for sale and the Authority accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner. 

(b) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously revalued asset is written down to 
recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25. 
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25. Fair Value Measurements 

Assets measured at fair value: 

 

Level 1 Level 2 

 

Level 3 

Fair value 
at end of 

period 

2013 $ $ $ $ 

Land (note 24) - 420,000 2,190,000 2,610,000 

Buildings (note 24) - - 22,546,007 22,546,007 

Total - 420,000 24,736,007 25,156,007 

 

Valuation techniques to derive level 2 fair values 

Level 2 fair values of Land is derived using the market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of 
comparable land in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre. 

 

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

   Land Buildings 

   $ $ 

Fair Value at start of period 2,250,000 22,373,400 

Additions - 425,854 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss - - 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

(60,000) 428,464 

Transfers (to)/from Level 2 - - 

Disposals - (125,000) 

Depreciation Expense - (556,711) 

Fair Value at end of period 2,190,000 22,546,007 

   

Valuation processes 

There were no changes in valuation during the period. 

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer.  Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets 
held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within 
Level 3 where the valuations utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Fair value for existing use specialised building is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  
Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation 
calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed economic benefit, expired economic 
benefit or obsolescence of the asset.  Determination of the current replacement cost of such assets held by 
the Institute is calculated by reference to gross project size specifications and the historical cost, adjusted 
by relevant indices. 
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25. Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of 
comparable land that is unrestricted (low restricted use land), or, comparison with market evidence for land 
with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Institute are derived and evaluated as follows: 

Cost of building 

The costs of construction of specialised buildings are determined by reference to current replacement cost 
with allowance for consumed economic benefit by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services). 

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset 

These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Sales prices of appropriate land of low utility 

These are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Selection of land with similar approximate utility 

Fair value for land with low level utility (high restricted use) is determined by comparison with market 
evidence for land with similar approximate utility.  Relevant comparators of land with similar approximate 
utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements 

Description and fair 
value as at 31 

December 2013 $ 

Valuation 
technique(s) 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range of 
unobservable inputs 

(probability – 
weighted average) 

Relationships of 
unobservable inputs 

to fair value 

Land 

($2,190,000) 

Market 
approach 

Selection of land 
with similar 

approximate utility 

$190,000 - $2,000,000 

($1,095,000) 

Higher value of similar 
land increases 

estimated fair value. 

Buildings 

($22,546,007) 

Depreciated 
Replacement 

Cost 

Consumed 
economic benefit / 
obsolescence of 

asset 

 

Depreciation rate 2% 
per year 

Greater consumption of 
economic benefit or 

increased 
obsolescence lowers 

fair value. 

 

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 24. 

Basis of Valuation 

In the absence of market-based evidence due to the specialised nature of the assets, non-financial assets 
are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis.  The existing use basis recognises 
that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to 
be surplus to requirements.  These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a 
specific community service and the Institute’s enabling legislation. 
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26.  Intangible Assets 

 
2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Computer software 

  At cost 
134,922 - 

Accumulated amortisation 
(37,750) - 

Accumulated impairment losses - - 

 

97,172 - 

Reconciliation 

  
Computer software 

  
Carrying amount at start of period - - 

Additions 134,922 - 

Classified as held for sale - - 

Revaluation increments - - 

Impairment losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income - - 

Impairment losses reversed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income - - 

Amortisation expense (37,750) - 

Carrying amount at end of period 97,172 - 

 

27.  Impairment of Assets 

There were no indications of impairment of property plant and equipment as at 31 December 2013. 
 
The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 
 
All surplus assets as at 31 December 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off 
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28.  Payables 

 
2013 2012 

Current $ $ 

Trade Payables 7,971 3,207 

GST Payable 20,231 11,801 

Accrued Expenses 244,185 510,616 

Accrued Salaries and Wages 432,123 448,517 

Paid Parental Leave - 3,519 

Total 704,510 977,660 

 
29.  Provisions 

 
2013 2012 

Current $ $ 

Employee benefits provision   

Annual leave (a) 708,884 944,936 

Long service leave (b) 1,447,766 1,242,966 

Deferred Salary Scheme 12,567 - 

 2,169,217 2,187,902 

Other provisions   

Employment on-costs (c) 136,322 138,526 

Total current 2,305,539 2,326,428 

 

 2013 2012 

Non-current $ $ 

Employee benefits provision   

Long service leave (b) 631,145 682,870 

 631,145 682,870 

Other provisions   

Employment on-costs(c) 39,854 43,211 

Total non-current 670,999 726,081 

 

 

 
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows 

 
2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 663,538 751,417 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 45,346 193,520 

 708,884 944,937 
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29.  Provisions (continued) 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

 
2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 655,682 344,530 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,423,229 1,581,306 

 2,078,911 1,925,836 

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual 
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 
2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period - - 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 12,567 - 

 12,567 - 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on-costs including workers' compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of 
expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount 
(finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'. 

 

Movements in other provisions  

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set 
out below. 

 
2013 2012 

Employment on-cost provision $ $ 

Carrying amount at start of period 181,737 164,452 

Additional provisions recognised - 17,285 

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (5,561) - 

Carrying amount at end of period 176,176 181,737 

 
30.  Other Liabilities 

 
2013 2012 

Current $ $ 

Income received in advance 47,637 28,949 

Grants and advances 24,975 141,100 

Monies held on trust 8,375 8,875 

Total current liabilities 80,987 178,924 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

30.  Other Liabilities (continued) 

 
2013 2012 

 $ $ 

(a) Income received in advance   

Student fees and charges 47,637 28,949 

(b) Grants and advances   

Fee for Service course fees 24,975 141,100 

(c) Monies held on trust   

Mick Young Trust 64 64 

Denmark Music Foundation 8,311 8,811 

 80,987 178,924 

31. Equity 

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Institute. The Government holds the 
equity interest in the net assets of the Institute. The Government holds the equity interest in the 
Institute on behalf of the community.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity 
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets. 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Contributed Equity   

Balance at start of period 4,919,017 4,919,017 

Contributions by owners   

Capital appropriation  444,460 - 

Balance at end of period 5,363,477 4,919,017 

   

Reserves   

Asset revaluation surplus 
  

Balance at start of period 7,390,249 7,321,736 

Buildings (80,000) (30,000) 

Land 428,377 98,513 

Balance at end of period 7,738,626 7,390,249 

   

Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 
  

Balance at start of period 16,077,129 16,857,466 

Result for the period 21,499 (780,336) 

Balance at end of period 16,098,628 16,077,130 

   

Total Equity at the end of the period 29,200,732 28,386,395 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

32. Notes to the Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,562,143 1,372,259 

Short term deposits 1,927,603 3,748,521 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,489,746 5,120,780 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 20 

'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 590,796 546,137 

 6,080,543 5,666,917 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
provided by/(used in) Operating activities 

  

Net cost of services (19,870,523) (20,276,613) 

Non-cash items:   

Depreciation and amortisation expense 873,737 795,504 

Doubtful debts expense 6,826 5,314 

Superannuation expense 
 

- 

Resources received free of charge 559,219 550,584 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 114,571 (6,154) 

Asset revaluation decrement   

(lncrease)/decrease in assets:   

Current receivables (c) (43,111) (104,858) 

Current receivables - other  118,270 

Current inventories 10,606 12,174 

Prepayments 27,670 (57,251) 

lncrease/(decrease) in liabilities   

Current payables (c) (281,581) (456) 

Current provisions (27,715) 266,230 

Income received in advance/grants and advances (97,937) 108,279 

Other current liabilities  (993,674) 

Non-current provisions (55,082) 37,193 

Other non-current liabilities 
 

 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a) 59,449 61,577 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) (57,321) (50,002) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (18,781,192) (19,533,883) 

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions 
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 
(c)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 

 receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included as they are not 
reconciling items.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

33.  Resources Provided Free of Charge 
During the year no resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the 
normal operations of the Institute. 
 

34.  Commitments 
 

 Lease commitments   

 Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in 
 the financial statements, are payable as follows: 

 
2013 2012 

 
$ $ 

 Within 1 year 16,349 114,501 

 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 

 Total 16,349 114,501 

 Representing:   

 Non-cancellable operating leases 16,349 - 

 16,349 114,501 

  

The Institute has a photocopier lease, motor vehicle lease and property lease.  These commitments are all 
inclusive of GST. 

 
35. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 No contingent liabilities or assets exist as at 31 December 2013. 
 
36. Events occurring after the reporting period 

There are no significant events occurring after Balance Sheet date that materially impact the financial 
statements as statements as at 31 December 2013. 
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37.  Explanatory Statement 
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2013 and between the actual results for 
2012 and 2013 are show below.  Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 
$250,000. 

Significant variations between estimated and actual result for 2013. 

 2013 2013  

 Estimate Actual Variance 

 $ $ $ 

Cost of Services    

Employee benefits expense 17,850,000 17,207,574 (642,426) 

Supplies and services 6,200,000 5,285,386 (914,614) 

Other expenses 1,000,000 1,539,760 539,760 

Revenue    

Student charges and fees 1,500,000 1,929,628 429,628 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 900,000 480,005 (419,995) 

Income from State Government    

Resources received free of charge 300,00 559,219 259,219 

Royalties for regions 961,000 - (961,000) 

Other Comprehensive Income    

Changes in asset revaluation reserve - 348,377 348,377 

 

Employee benefits expense 

The variance arises from a reduction of 10 full time equivalent employees during 2013 from the staffing 
levels of 2012. 

Service and supplies 

It was anticipated that general costs would rise when setting the estimates for 2012.  In reality the variance 
was due to a reduction in the majority of expenditure categories these include consumables and minor 
equipment, supplies and minor equipment and travel.  The reduction is due to a sustained effort by 
management to minimize operating expenses. 

Other expenses 

The variance is mainly attributable to an unanticipated increase in Risk Cover insurance premiums and the 
loss on disposal of a demountable building. 

Student charges and fees 

During 2013 both student tuition fees and student resource fees were materially higher than estimated.  The 
increase is attributable to a combination of indexation of fees, increased tuition hours and the termination a 
special concessions available during 2012. 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 

The variation from the estimated results was due to the Commonwealth Government offering fewer grants 
suited to the Institute’s capabilities. 

Resources received free of charge 

The variation above the estimated amount has due to an anticipated reduction in the value of resources 
provided free of charge not materializing during 2013.  
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37.  Explanatory Statement (continued) 

Royalties for regions 

The variation arises from a change in the accounting treatment of funds received under the Royalties for 
Regions scheme.  In preparing the estimates, Royalties for Regions was classified as revenue but were 
actually treated as a contribution of capital from owner in the 2013 financial statements. 

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 

The variance is due to unanticipated changes in the value of land and buildings as determined by a report 
from Landgate. 

 

Significant variations between the actual results for 2012 and 2013. 

 
2012 2013  

 
  Variance 

 
$ $ $ 

Cost of Services    

Employee benefits expense 17,499,420 17,207,574 (291,846) 

Supplies and services 6,086,490 5,285,386 (801,104) 

Revenue    

Fee for service 2,185,525 1,743,119 (442,406) 

Student charges and fees 1,658,678 1,929,628 270,950 

Income from State Government    

Service appropriation 18,945,693 19,332,803 387,110 

Other Comprehensive Income    

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 68,513 348,377 279,864 

 

Employee benefits expense 

The variance arises from a reduction of 10 full time equivalent employees during 2013 from the staffing 
levels of 2012. 

Service and supplies 

The variance was due to a reduction in the majority of expenditure categories these include consumables 
and minor equipment, supplies and minor equipment and travel.  The reduction is due to a sustained effort 
by management to minimize operating expenses. 

Fees for service 

The variance was due to the demand for fee for service course being lower than the previous year leading 
to a reduction in revenue.  

Student charges and fees 

During 2013 both student tuition fees and student resource fees were materially higher than estimated.  The 
increase is attributable to a combination of indexation of fees, increased tuition hours and the termination a 
special concessions available during 2012. 

Service appropriations 

The variance was due to an increase in student contact hours over the preceding year leading to a greater 
appropriation fee being paid in 2013 by the State Government. 

Changes in asset revaluation reserve 

The variance is due to a greater increase in the value of buildings than in the prior year.  
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38. Financial Instruments 

(a)  Financial Risk Management Objectives and policies 
Financial instruments held by the Institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables and payables.  The Institute has limited exposure to financial risks. The 
Institute's overall risk management program focus on managing the risk identified below: 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute's receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Institute. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for 
impairment as show in the table at note 38 (c) ‘Finance instruments disclosures’ and note 22 
‘Receivables’. 
Credit risk associated with the Institute's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the 
amounts receivable for trade debtors with only minor exposure to student debts.  For trade receivables 
other than government, the Institute trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Institute has policies in place to ensure that material sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. Individual student debts are relatively minor in value and 
are monitored carefully.  At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk. 

 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Institute is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Institute 
has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including draw downs of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 
will affect the Institute's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The Institute does 
not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity 
securities or commodity prices changes).  Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
table at Note 38(c), The Institute has a moderate exposure to interest rate risk because interest 
revenue comprises a relatively small proportion of the Institute’s total revenue and it has no other 
borrowings. 

 

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments 
In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 2013 2012 

Financial Assets $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalent 5,489,746 5,120,780 

Restricted cash and cash equivalent 590,796 546,137 

Receivables (a) 395,428 352,317 

Financial Liabilities   

Payables 684,279 977,660 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 

(c)  Financial Instrument Disclosure 

Credit risk  
The following table discloses the Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of 
financial assets. The Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is 
the carrying of an amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on 
information provided to senior management of the Institute. The Institute does not hold any collateral 
as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

38. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute’s financial assets and 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest 
rates.  It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 

  - 100 Basis Points + 100 Basis Points 

 Carrying amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
2013 $ $ $ $ $ 
      

Financial Assets 5,483,136 (54,831) (54,831) 54,831 54,831 

Cash and cash 
equivalent 

     

 
     

Restricted Cash and 
cash equivalent 

590,796 (5,908) (5,908) 5,908 5,908 

 
Total 
Increase/(Decrease) 

 (60,739) (60,739) 60,739 60,739 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 - 100 Basis Points 
 

+ 100 Basis Points 
 

 Carrying amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 
2012 $ $ $ $ $ 
      

Financial Assets      

Cash and cash 
equivalent 

5,120,780 (51,142) (51,142) 51,142 51,142 

 
     

Restricted Cash and 
cash equivalent 

546,137 (5,461) (5,461) 5,461 5,461 

 
Total 
Increase/(Decrease) 

 (56,603) (56,603) 56,603 56,603 

 
Fair Values 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at 
cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair values unless 
otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

39.  Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of Members of the accountable authority 
The number of members of the accountable authority whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-
monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

 
2013 2012 

$   

        $0 - $10,000 9 11 

$180,001 - $190,000 1 1 

   

         $        $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation 224,987 222,975 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals (22,109) 16,274 

Other benefits 12,973 8,801 

Total remuneration of the members of the accountable authority is: 215,851 248,050 

 

 

Remuneration of senior officers 

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, 
whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, 
fall within the following bands are: 

 
2013 2012 

$    

$20,001 - $30,000 1  

$60,001 - $70,000 1  

$90,001 - $100,000 1 2 

$100,001 - $110,000 1  

$110,001 - $120,000 1 2 

$120,001 -$130,000 4 2 

$130,001 - $140,000 3 1 

$140,001 - $150,000 1 2 

$150,001 - $160,000  1 

     $      $ 

Cash remuneration received in relation to 2013 1,491,198 1,213,917 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals (66,037) 34,603 

Other benefits 15,728 2,098 

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 1,440,889 1,250,618 

 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the accountable authority in 
respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute. 
 
No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2013 (continued) 

40.  Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as 
follows: 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators. 
 
 

65,500 58,000 

  
  

41.  Related bodies 

The Institute has no related bodies. 

 
 

42.  Affiliated bodies 

The Institute has no affiliated bodies. 
 
 
43. Supplementary financial information 

 2013 2012 

Write-Offs $ $ 

Buildings 119,000 - 

Bad debts 3,856 1,448 

Other- cash shortages - 339 

Total 122,856 1,787 

44.  Schedule of income and expenditure by service 

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101(9) and that is Vocational 
Education and Training Delivery. 
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Appendix 1 

Annual Estimates 

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 953, the annual estimates for the 2014 year are 
hereby included in the 2013 Annual Report. These estimates do not form part of the 2013 
financial statements and are not subject to audit. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2014 

Estimate 

 

COST OF SERVICES 

 

$ 

Expenses  

Employee benefits expense 17,650,545 

Supplies and services 5.410,153 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 913,947 

Grants and subsidies 5,000 

Cost of Sales 255,829 

Other expenses 1,271,449 

Total Cost of Services 25,506,923 

  

Income  

Revenue  

Fee for service 1,852,548 

Student fees and charges 2,963,800 

Ancillary trading 106,093 

Sales 517,279 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 460,873 

Interest revenue 158,750 

Other revenue 183,918 

Total Revenue 6,243,261 

Gains  

Gain on disposal of non-current assets - 

Total Gains - 

  

Total income other than from State Government 6,243,261 

  

NET COST OF SERVICES  

State funds 17,130,697 

Resources received free of charge 291,000 

Total income from State Government 17,421,697 

 

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 

 

(1,841,965) 

 
  



 

89 

 
 

2014 Forward Financial Estimates (continued) 

  

Balance Sheet 
 

2014 
Estimate 

 

Current Assets 

$ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,268,498 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8,375 

Inventories 48,585 

Receivables 425,695 

Other current assets 147,143 

Total Current Assets 4,898,296 

Non-Current Assets  

Property, plant and equipment 31,739,390 

Total Non-Current Assets 31,739,390 

   

Total Assets 36,637,686 

 

Current Liabilities  

Payables 977,660 

Provisions 2,326,428 

Other current liabilities 178,924 

Total Current Liabilities 3,483,012 

Non-Current Liabilities  

Provisions 726,081 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 726,081 

   

Total Liabilities 4,209,093 

   

NET ASSETS 32,428,593 

  

Equity  

Contributed Equity 11,781,653 

Reserves 7,390,250 

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 13,256,690 

TOTAL EQUITY 32,428,593 
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2014 Forward Financial Estimate (continued) 

Changes in Equity   

    

2014 
Estimate 

 
$ 

 

 

Balance of equity at start of period 27,897,922 

  

Contributed equity  

Balance at start of period 5,409,017 

Capital Contribution 6,372,636 

Balance at end of period 11,781,653 

 

Reserves  

Asset revaluation reserve  

Balance at start of period 7,390,250 

Restated balance at start of period  

Gains / (losses) from asset revaluation - 

Balance at end of period 7,390,250 

  

Accumulated surplus (retained earnings)  

Balance at start of period 15,098,655 

Restated balance at start of period  

Surplus/(deficit) or profit/(loss) for the period (1,841,965) 

Balance at end of period 13,256,690 

  

Balance of equity at end of period 32,428,593 
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2014 Forward Financial Estimates (continued) 

Cash Flow Statement 

201421 
Estimate 

 

  

$  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  

 

State funds  17,130,697 

Royalties for Regions 410,000 

Net cash provided by State Government 17,540,697 

 

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 

 

Payments  

 Employee benefits (17,650,545) 

 Supplies and services (5,119,153) 

 Grants and subsidies (5,000) 

 GST payments on purchases (580,646) 

 GST payments to taxation authority - 

 Other payments (1,527,278) 

 

 

Receipts  

 Fee for service 1,852,548 

 Student fees and charges 2,963,800 

 Ancillary trading 106,093 

 Commonwealth grants and contributions 460,873 

 Interest received 158,750 

 GST receipts on sales 262,668 

 GST receipts from taxation authority 317,978 

 Other receipts 517,279 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (18,058,715) 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

 Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets - 

 Purchase of noncurrent physical assets (410,000) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (410,000) 

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held and cash equivalents (928,018) 

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 5,204,891 

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD 4,276,873 
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Certification of Performance Indicators  
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Key Performance Indicators 

Government Goal 

A flexible and innovative training sector which provides the skills required of people 

to realise their potential. (Training WA 2009) 

Desired Outcome 

To provide students with the skills to fulfill their potential and build our region’s 

prosperity. (Institute Strategic Plan 2013-15) 

Effectiveness Indicators 

The four effectiveness Indicators are:  

1. Annual VET profile target achievement 
2. Overall student satisfaction 
3. Graduate employment status 
4. Graduate satisfaction 

Profile Target Achievement i 

This indicator reports the effectiveness of Great Southern Institute of 

Technology in meeting profiled DPA targets. The delivery profile is negotiated 

with the Department of Training and Workforce Development.  

In 2013 the Institute exceeded planned delivery set in the DPA by 2.4%, and this is 

partly attributable to the State Government's efficiency dividend measures which 

necessitated a decrease in the originally negotiated profile from 1,126,513 SCH to 

1,107,937 SCH. This occurred after planning for 2013 delivery had taken place. 

 

Profile Achievement 

  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Target 

Planned 855,048 964,630 1,134,201 1,134,201 1,107,937 1,107,937 

Achieved 971,533 1,149,177 1,061,808 1,142,742 1,134,327  

Achievement % 113.6% 119.1% 93.6% 100.8% 102.4% 100% 

  

 

 

 

 

  



 

94 

The following table displays allocations by industry group. Variations between 

actual and planned delivery generally occurred as a result of changed student and 

industry demand. All variations were within agreed DPA parameters.  

 

In 2013 the Institute delivered 187,882 SCH of non-profiled delivery representing a 

26% decrease on performance compared to 2012.  

This decline in single subscriber and contracted fee for service delivery reflects a 

tightening of the contestable market driven in part by reduced tenders for training 

delivery. This has led to a 5.3% reduction in total SCH delivery between 2012 and 

2013. 

 

 

wadot_group GroupDesc 2009 2010 2011 2012 Planned Actual Achieved

01A Recreation Sports and Entertainment 1,870       1,730                1,730         2,295                  1,610 2,960         183.9%

01B Visual and Performing Arts 59,069     64,483              57,453       70,269              38,800 38,601       99.5%

01C Design 22,609     16,513              11,918       11,245              12,310 13,365       108.6%

02A Automotive 32,295     27,642              23,728       20,338              17,939 29,141       162.4%

03A Building and Constructions 65,510     86,144              105,335      128,754            116,625 123,079      105.5%

03B Surveying and Building 6,330       11,190              8,310         6,660                  9,510 11,000       115.7%

04A Community Service Workers 103,830   71,615              80,560       51,915              77,567 59,170       76.3%

04B Education and Childcare 61,875     61,800              94,915       79,255              78,490 82,695       105.4%

04C Health 39,397     95,141              96,113       104,148            114,213 116,140      101.7%

05A Finance Insurance Property Service Workers 2,137       3,352                1,487         859                     7,800 6,347         81.4%

06A Food Trades and Processing 9,654       2,145                950            435                        600 500            83.3%

07A Clothing Footwear and Soft Furnishings 8,885       8,380                10,290       9,925                11,118 9,015         81.1%

07B Furniture Manufacture 7,358       5,681                7,109         4,212                  5,330 3,160         59.3%

08B Printing and Publishing 2,955       2,750                980            -

09A Engineering and Drafting 1,300       400                  21                            21 0.0%

09B Metal and Mining 30,136     29,417              21,836       41,934              32,983 25,627       77.7%

10B Forestry, Farming and Landcare 135,687   201,331            119,532      172,131            158,383 214,688      135.5%

10D Horticulture 36,707     59,744              49,530       55,536              48,471 39,339       81.2%

12A Personal Service 36,599     32,925              40,102       40,922              44,048 48,750       110.7%

12B Retail 20           1,405                4,555         990            1,865         -

13A Cooking 7,615       18,844              10,400       10,486              14,392 11,913       82.8%

13B Hospitality 4,695       14,370              12,301       12,019              11,544 14,322       124.1%

13C Tourism 2,930       4,730                5,725         10,490                4,260 6,255         146.8%

14A Transport Trades, Storage and Associated 1,446       372                  180            -

15A Electrical and Electronic Engineering 5,068                5,194         -

15B Electrical Trades 20,173     23,465              20,895       21,347              20,298 22,470       110.7%

16A Accounting and Other Business Services 40,975     52,570              47,390       59,790              54,855 53,275       97.1%

16B Management 9,370       13,960              8,750         13,825              10,830 5,195         48.0%

16C Office and Clerical 76,410     79,155              72,145       61,075              63,400 48,415       76.4%

17A Computing 48,183     38,100              26,465       29,715              28,490 34,450       120.9%

18A Science and Technical Workers 1,778       13,760              20,645       20,025              36,750 12,415       33.8%

19B Adult Literacy/ ESL 62,270     67,260              61,925       60,436              56,550 62,170       109.9%

19C Languages 7,080       7,245                10,650       8,970                  8,400 6,040         71.9%

19E Targetted Access and Participation Courses 24,385     26,490              22,890       32,720              22,350 31,785       142.2%

971,533   1,149,177            1,061,808   1,142,742   1,107,937   1,134,327   102.4%

2013
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Total SCH Achievement 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 Target 

Profile 1,149,177 1,061,808 1,142,742 1,134,327 1,107,937 

Non Profile 202,978 199,762 254,107 187,882  

GSIT Total 1,352,155 1,261,570 1,396,849 1,322,209  

 

Overall Student Satisfactionii 

The Department of Training and Workforce Development contracts Patterson 

Research Group to conduct an annual student satisfaction survey. This survey 

measures students’ perceptions of the effectiveness of the Institute’s programs. 

The 2013 data shows that 92.2% of students were satisfied with their course. This 

compares favourably with the WA state average of 85.9%. The slight increase in 

overall satisfaction over a two-year period, from 89.9% in 2011 to 92.2% in 2013 is 

however not statistically significant. 

 

Student Satisfaction 

 

 

 

 

 

Graduate Employment Statusiv 

The bi-annual national Student Outcomes Survey conducted by NCVER in 

2013 measures student employment, further study destinations, and 

assessment of the training undertaken.  

Survey questionnaires were sent to a stratified, randomly selected sample of 

graduates and module completers with national response rates of 41.9% and 

29.7%, respectively. For Great Southern Institute of Technology, response rates 

were 39.4% and 30.3%, respectively. 

Data from this survey was then used to measure the effectiveness indicators of 

graduate employment status and graduate satisfaction.  

The proportion of graduates in employment is a key performance indicator that 

shows the extent to which the institute is meeting industry and community 

need for training services that equip graduates for changing employment 

opportunities. 

The 2013 Student Outcomes Survey measured a graduate employment rate for 

the institute of 85.1%, which exceeded the target graduate employment rate of 

  
  

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Targetiii 

GSIT 89.1% 93.2% 89.9% 89.1% 92.2% 88-92% 

WA 85.6% 86.3% 88.2% 86.3% 85.9%  
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78-82%
v
. This performance is partly attributable to the improving regional labour 

market. 

Graduate Employment
vi

 

  
  

GSIT 
2009 

TAFE
WA 

2009 

TAFE
Aust 
2009 

GSIT 
2011 

TAFE
WA 
2011 

TAFE
Aust 
2011 

GSIT 
2013 

TAFE
WA 

2013 

TAFE
Aust 
2013 

Not in Labour Force 11.8% 11.8% 11.1% 9.8% 10.0% 10.0% 6.9% 8.5% 9.6% 

Unemployed 10.4% 10.1% 11.9% 8.5% 9.9% 9.9% 7.9% 10.8% 13.2% 

Employed 77.6% 78.0% 77.1% 81.8% 79.7% 79.7% 85.1% 80.4% 77.1% 

 

Graduate Satisfaction 

The bi-annual Student Outcomes Survey conducted by NCVER in 2013 also 

measures graduate satisfaction.  

Graduate satisfaction is a key performance indicator that measures the extent to 

which Great Southern Institute of Technology graduates wholly or partially 

achieved their main reason for undertaking the course and is compared to the 

State average. It measures students’ perceptions of training effectiveness. 

The 2013 Student Outcomes Survey measured overall graduate satisfaction for 

the institute at 92.9%. This aligns to the satisfaction result of 92.2% recorded in 

the annual Student Satisfaction Survey. 

Graduate Satisfaction 

  
  

2009 2011 2013 Targetvii 

GSIT 89.8% 91.8% 92.9% 86-90% 

TAFE WA 87.1% 87.5% 89.5%  

TAFE Aust 85.9% 85.8% 88.0%  

 

Efficiency Indicator 

Cost of delivery measured against the unit of a ‘Student Curriculum Hour’ (SCH) 

– defined as the nominal hours assigned to a program of study by the curriculum 

or, in the absence of an endorsed curriculum, by common agreement with the 

Department of Training and Workforce Development’s Statistical Unit. 

Both profiled and non-profiled SCH are included in this efficiency indicator. 

Overall Cost  per Student Curriculum Hour  

The overall cost per SCH demonstrates the efficiency with which Great Southern 

Institute of Technology manages its resources to enable the provision of vocational 

education and training programs. The overall cost per SCH shows the aggregate unit 

cost of delivery output per SCH, based on the delivery costs as detailed in the 2013 

Financial Statements. 
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 Delivery Costs 

 

 

The institute’s 2013 total cost of services per student curriculum hour of $19.04 is 

less than the section 40 estimate to Treasury of $20.09. 

The variation, a reduction of -$1.05 per SCH, is attributed to effective fiscal 

management across the business with considerable savings made in the areas of 

employee’s salary expense, supplies and services. 

This variation is within the required financial ratio of +/- 5% movement in $ cost per 

SCH.

                                                
i
 In 2013 actual SCH was calculated using the ‘end of study’ based reporting methodology in compliance with 
the National Training Agreement 
ii
 Notes to the 2013 Student Satisfaction Survey 

The 2013 Student Satisfaction Survey fieldwork was conducted between Tuesday 1 October and Sunday 24 
November 2013. Respondents were drawn from a random sample of Institute students who were enrolled in 
either the first or second semester of 2013, with results published in February 2014. As in previous years 
response data has been weighted back to the total student population based on a combination of gender, age 

  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Total SCH Delivery 1,151,597 1,352,155 1,261,570 1,396,849 1,322,209 

Total Expenditure $20,547,179 $23,201,621 24,493,686 $26,033,991 $25,175,667 

Overall Cost Per SCH $17.84 $17.16 $19.42 $18.64 $19.04 
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group, and student status. 
In 2013, the total response rate for the Institute was 16.0% (i.e. n= 411 / N= 2,566). The confidence interval is 
+/- 2.38%; this means that with a 95% level of confidence, the survey results lie within -2.38% and +2.38% of 
the actual results among the total GSIT population. The standard error is 1.21%. 
Satisfaction is expressed as a percentage derived from the number of 'very satisfied' and ‘satisfied’ 
respondents as a proportion of the total survey respondents. 
iii
 Trend target from previous years 

iv
 Notes to the 2013 Student Outcomes Survey: 

This publication presents information about the outcomes of Great Southern Institute of Technology students 
who completed their vocational education and training (VET) during 2012. The figures are derived from the 
Student Outcomes Survey, which is an annual survey that covers students who have an Australian address as 
their usual address and are awarded a qualification (graduates), or who successfully complete part of a course 
and then leave the VET system (module completers).Survey questionnaires were sent to a stratified, randomly 
selected sample of graduates and module completers from the National VET Provider Collection, with survey 
responses weighted to population benchmarks from the collection. National response rates were 41.9% and 
29.7%, respectively. For Great Southern Institute of Technology, response rates were 39.4% and 30.3%, 
respectively. 
v
 Trend target from previous years 

vi
 Graduate employment time series figures for 2011 have been sourced from the 2013 NCVER Student 

Outcomes Survey. There is a discrepancy between these figures and the figures published in the 2011 NCVER 
Student Outcomes Survey – with the 2011 NCVER Student Outcomes Survey recording a figure of 79.9% for 
employed graduates. 
vii

 Trend target from previous years 
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Ministerial Directives 

Great Southern Institute of Technology received no Ministerial directives relevant to 
the setting of desired outcomes or operational objectives, the achievement of desired 
outcomes or operational objectives, investment activities and financing activities 
through the course of 2013. 

Other Financial Disclosures 

Fees and Charges TI903 (13) (i) 

The institute’s fees and charges are set by the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development and collected in accordance with the requirements of 
the: 

 Vocational Education and Training Act 1996  

 Vocational Education and Training (Colleges) Regulations 1996 

 Vocational Education and Training (General) Regulations 2009. 
 
Major Capital Projects TI903 (13) (ii) 

Completed Capital Works Projects: 
 
C Block was converted into classrooms and staff offices. While this block had been 
occupied since January 2012 for the Communication and Arts portfolio, the 
refurbishment was completed following the release of retention funds held to cover 
any building defects. The total cost of the project was $755,784, funded internally by 
the institute with $16,167 held for defect retention funds until late 2013. 

An industrial training facility at the Albany campus was completed for occupancy in 
late 2013. The project was funded by the institute at a total cost of $453,593 against 
an estimated cost of $400,000 due to a number of site variations required against 
original estimates.  

An Emergency Warning Indication System (EWIS) was installed early in the year at a 
cost of $129,000 funded by the institute as a priority upgrade to the fire alarm, 
intercom and evacuation system.   

Capital Works In Progress 
 
Funding of $5.76 million has been secured through Royalties for Regions for a new 
Health Science building and upgrade to M Block at the Albany campus. Building 
works started in mid-2013 and completion is expected in late 2014. The project 
includes upgrades to the institute’s fire services and realignment of the access road 
to the D Block car park. 

Remedial Works costing $1.238 million have been funded by the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development for major remedial works across the institute. 
These started in late 2013 and completion is expected by the end of 2014. This work 
includes upgrades to the power supply, sewer systems, gas supply, roofs and 
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gutters, air conditioning, security system and covered walkways, and replacement of 
asbestos.  

Work started in early 2013 on an upgrade to IT infrastructure at a cost of $961,000 
funded by Royalties for Regions. Completion is expected by late 2014.  

 

Employment and Industrial Relations TI903 (13) (iii) 

Staff employed by Great Southern Institute of Technology 
 

 24.12.09 23.12.10 24.11.11 22.11.12 21.11.13 

Fixed Pay 186 189 221 216 206 

Casuals 71 126 95 87 70 

 
During 2013, the institute reviewed its policy and procedures in relation to the recruitment, 
selection and appointment of staff. 
 

Staff Development 

The institute has a commitment to the ongoing professional development of staff and offers a 
comprehensive calendar of relevant courses to both lecturing and administrative staff. In 
addition, the institute provides assistance to staff to gain relevant qualifications which are 
offered in-house and 2013 saw all lecturers upgrade their training qualifications to the most 
recent version. 
 

Industrial Relations 

No major industrial relations claims are reportable for 2013 and there were no matters 
referred to the Industrial Relations Commission or similar jurisdictions. 
 

Workers’ Compensation 

During 2013, there were four workers’ compensation claims lodged. Two of the claims were 
cleared and finalised, one claim was withdrawn and the remaining claim is being managed 
appropriately and has not resulted in any lost time.     
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Other Legal Requirements 

Advertising 

  $ 
Advertising Agency OMD 45,882.56 

Market Research  Nil 

Polling Organisations  Nil 

Media Advertising Orana Cinemas 2,909.11 

 Katanning Regional Business Association 454.54 

 Albany Gateway (internet) 250.00 

 Albany Advertiser 43.45 

 Dubsat Pty Ltd 30.00 

 Facebook 69.27 

 Bodycare 500.00 

 Gumtree 14.99 

 Albany Chamber of Commerce 866.23 

Direct Mail Organisations    Australia Post (unaddressed mail) 3,717.16 

Staff Advertising Adcorp 3,497.84 

Total  $58,235.15 

 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 

Great Southern Institute’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2011-2016 
outlines the institute’s strategies to ensure the access and  inclusion of people with 
disability in all aspects of training, facilities and events.  A report on the institute’s 
DAIP Implementation Plan 2012-2013 was provided to the Disability Services 
Commission in July 2013. 

Throughout 2013, the institute consulted with students with disability, community 
agencies and families to ensure access to training and services. The institute 
provided individualised study support to meet the needs of students with disability 
participating in training across the institute’s campuses.  

Training specifically designed to meet the learning needs of people with disability 
was provided at Albany and Katanning Campuses. This included Certificates II and 
III in Clothing Production, Certificates I and II in Visual Art, Certificate I in Agri-food 
and the Certificate in Gaining Access to Training and Employment. 

Students with disability participated in Learning for the Future classes using iPads 
and apps to increase their information and technology skills while also improving 
numeracy and literacy skills through completing units from the Certificates in General 
Education for Adults. 

Great Southern Institute of Technology’s Busy Bee Creations project continued for a 
very successful second year in 2013. This project assists people with disability to 
build on their sewing skills to develop high-quality products for sale at local cottage 
industry markets, online or through community networks. Training was provided in 
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sewing construction and production skills, and retail, marketing and small business 
management skills.   

Great Southern Institute produced a DVD, Moving On from School, in collaboration 
with the Disability Services Commission, Albany Secondary Education Support 
Centre and the National Disability Coordination Officer. In this DVD, eight young 
people from the Great Southern share some of their training, employment, volunteer 
and community experiences since leaving school. This DVD will assist young people 
with disability to make the transition from school to work, training and community 
involvement.  

Throughout the year, the institute continued to implement accessibility improvements 
across its campuses including upgrading accessible toilet facilities and pathways. 

Institute information is provided in a range of formats on request, and learning 
materials are provided in accessible formats, including electronically. The Disability 
Liaison Officer liaises with community organisations, schools and agencies and 
provides information through e-newsletters and to community networks to ensure 
people with disability are informed of the institute’s training opportunities and support 
services. Information regarding the institute’s courses, services, events and facilities, 
including services for people with disability, is available on the institute website. 

Great Southern Institute provided information and training to staff to ensure quality 
service and an awareness of issues affecting people with disability. Information on 
meeting the needs of people with disability is provided to all staff at induction 
sessions and also online. Staff attended a range of professional development 
courses including Youth and Adult Mental Health First Aid workshops, first aid, 
asthma training, Supporting Tweens and Teens with Autism, and Reaching the Hard 
to Reach. 

The institute continued to provide a range of opportunities for people with disability to 
provide feedback on accessibility, services and training at the institute, including 
customer feedback forms, online and verbal feedback, and grievance procedures. 
Support is provided to assist people with disability to give feedback, if requested. 

 
Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 

During 2013, there was one allegation of a breach of the Public Sector Standards, 
namely the Employment Standard. The claim was unsubstantiated and in any event 
the claimant did not have grounds to seek redress under the regulations and did not 
pursue the matter following advice to that effect. 
 
In terms of compliance with Ethical Codes and Behaviour, there were two minor 
issues relating to officers’ conduct which were dealt with in accordance with the 
institute’s disciplinary processes and resolved satisfactorily. In addition, there was 
one matter reported to the Corruption and Crime Commission involving Corporate 
Card irregularities, which was investigated in accordance with GSIT’s disciplinary 
procedures. No findings of deliberate wrongdoing were made and appropriate 
remedial action was taken.  
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During 2013, all Human Resources policies and procedures were reviewed including 
those relating to public sector standards and ethical behaviour. Training was 
conducted during the year in relation to recruitment and selection (Employment 
Standard) and all staff undergo an online induction process which covers the 
Institute Code of Conduct and Accountable and Ethical Decision Making. 
 

Recordkeeping Plan 

Under Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, every Government organisation is 
required to have a Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) approved by the State Records 
Commission.  
 
An RKP covering all State Training Providers was approved by the State Records 
Commission on 7 December 2012 and is valid until 2017. 
 
In 2013, an assessment of the institute’s recordkeeping system TRIM was completed 
by external consultants Information Enterprises Australia. Recommendations for 
enhancement to the system were implemented and TRIM is now deployed to key 
business units across the institute. 
 
The institute has implemented strategies supported by policies and procedures to 
ensure employees are aware of their recordkeeping responsibilities. All staff, through 
the induction program, receive information on the requirements of record keeping.   
Further information and updates on records management are distributed to staff as 
necessary, in addition to any systems training required. 
 
Sustainability 

The institute’s Seeds of Sustainability committee drives initiatives and promotes a 
culture of environmental sustainability among staff at all campuses. 
In 2013, a Sustainability Action Plan was completed to demonstrate the institute’s 
commitment to conducting business in an ethical and sustainable manner, and 
underpin institute planning, decision making and reporting. 
Sustainability units in training programs use the institute’s infrastructure as focal 
points. These include rain harvesting and water reuse, wind turbine power 
generation, solar panel use and compliance to a five-star energy rating system. 
During the year, this sustainability culture was reinforced and facilitated with the 
following: 

 The installation of an additional three recycling stations at the Albany campus 

 A contribution of $25,000 towards the upgrade of the Albany campus gardens 
to a water wise standard 

 Sponsorship of a Living Smart facilitators’ course held in the institute’s training 
restaurant 

 The installation of a drinking fountain in the Trades area 

 Renewal of the Greensense energy-monitoring system licence. 
To maximise benefits to staff and ensure currency and quality of information on 
environmental sustainability, memberships were renewed with the Alternative 
Technology Association, Australian Campuses Towards Sustainability and 
International Greenskills Network. 
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Professional development in sustainability was offered to staff and 42 members 
completed this training. 
 

Occupational Health and Safety 

During 2013, the institute’s commitment to providing a safe and healthy workplace 
for all employees was demonstrated in the following ways: 
 

 An OHS policy was produced and signed by the Managing Director. 

 A survey was conducted to assess the staff culture in relation to OHS. This 
will be continued on an annual basis to gauge the overall improvement of 
OHS culture across the institute and identify areas of need.  

 A review of critical OSH policies, procedures and operating procedures across 
the institute was carried out.  

 A new Emergency Warning and Intercommunication System (EWIS) was 
installed and all staff trained in its use. 

 A comprehensive OSH training calendar was implemented throughout the 
year. This included online delivery and self-assessment guides.  

 The coordination of emergency evacuation procedures, which included fire 
warden training, a lunchtime information session and emergency safe 
operating instructions. 

 Regular safety alerts to highlight OHS issues and trends were distributed to all 
staff. 

 Continued expenditure was allocated for upgrading and maintenance of 
facilities and equipment across all campuses in excess of $100,000 for the 
year, in addition to the normal maintenance budget.  

 
The institute has effective mechanisms in place for consulting with employees, 
mainly via the following: 
 

 Regular meetings of the OSH Committee. 

 Revised OSH incident/accident/issue reporting procedures. 

 Accessible, active and dedicated OSH representatives. 

 Regular and accessible training. 

 Distribution of newsletters, safety alerts and posters raising awareness of 
local issues to all staff. 

 
The institute has a current and compliant procedure on workers’ compensation and 
injury management, along with a revised and current form to document agreed 
return-to-work arrangements. Training for all managers was conducted on workers’ 
compensation, injury and return-to-work management. 

Ninety per cent of institute managers received training in workers’ compensation, 
injury and return-to-work management. The institute hosted this training and invited 
another major regional employer, the City of Albany, to also attend, thereby building 
local OHS relationships.   

An accredited external assessment of the institute was completed in 2009 and in 
2012, an internal assessment was conducted and silver status achieved.  
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Annual performance statistics for the 2013 calendar year are as follows: 

Measure 
           Actual Results Results against Target  

2011 2012 2013 
PSC Target set for 

2012/14 
Comment on 

result 

Number of 
fatalities 

0 1 0 0   

Lost time injury 
and/or disease 
incident rate  

1.83 1.56% 0.52% 
0 or 10% 

improvement on the 
previous 3 years 

Achieved 

Lost time injury 
and/or disease 
severity rate  

25 50 100 
0 or 10% 

improvement on the 
previous 3 years 

Not 
Achieved  

Percentage of 
injured workers 
returned to work            

(i) within 13 
weeks 

83% 
80% 100% Greater than or 

equal to 80% 
Achieved  

(ii) within 26 
Weeks n/a 100% n/a 

Percentage of 
managers 
trained in 

occupational 
safety, health 

and injury 
management 

responsibilities 

100% 80% 90% 
Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

Achieved 

 

Governance Framework for State Training Providers 

In 2013 the institute continued to make efficiencies by aligning core business 
processes and reporting requirements to the governance framework. Towards the 
end of 2013, the decision was taken to consolidate the management of the 
governance framework under a newly created directorate of Organisational 
Effectiveness.  

Performance indicators established in the maturity self-assessment undertaken in 
2012 were also reviewed in 2013 to ensure that they continued to be a valid indicator 
of achievement. 

Strategic and Business Plans 

In 2013, the institute published its Strategic Plan 2013-2015. This plan underpins the 
development of the institute’s annual business plan. 
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International Students 

The institute employs an officer to provide international student support. Services 
include accommodation and employment assistance, pastoral care, liaison with 
lecturers and assistance with visa enquiries. 


